

Horizon 2020 European Union funding for Research & Innovation

Impact analysis of market and regulatory options through advanced power system and market modelling studies

D3.4



© Copyright 2018 The EU-SYSFLEX Consortium





PROGRAMME	H2020 COMPETITIVE LOW CARBON ENERGY 2017-2-SMART-GRIDS
GRANT AGREEMENT NUMBER	773505
PROJECT ACRONYM	EU-SYSFLEX
DOCUMENT	D3.4
TYPE (DISTRIBUTION LEVEL)	Public
	⊠ Confidential
	Restricted
DUE DELIVERY DATE	April 2020
DATE OF DELIVERY	
STATUS AND VERSION	
NUMBER OF PAGES	233
WORK PACKAGE / TASK RELATED	WP3/Task 3.4
WORK PACKAGE / TASK RESPONSIBLE	VITO/KU Leuven
AUTHOR (S)	K. Poncelet, A. van Stiphout, K. van den Bergh, M. Hermans, K.
	Bruninx, M. Ihlemann, D. Pudjianto, D. Papadaskalopoulos, Y. Ye, G.
	Strbac, C. O'Dwyer, D. Flynn, H. Höschle, G. Willeghems, Y. Mou, W.
	Jaworski, M. Jakubek, M. Kłos, E. Urresti-Padrón, E. Delarue

DOCUMENT HISTORY

VERS	ISSUE DATE	CONTENT AND CHANGES
1	03/04/2020	First complete draft
2	19/06/2020	Revised version including comments from PMB

DOCUMENT APPROVERS

PARTNER	APPROVER	
Helena Gerard (VITO),	Technical verification	
Hanspeter Höschle (VITO),		
Marie-Ann Evans (EDF)		
John Lowry (EIRGRID)	Validation	



TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	14
ENHANCING TSO-DSO INTEGRATION TO FACILITATE MARKET ACCESS FOR DISTRIBUTED ENERGY RESOURCES	15
INTERDEPENDENCE OF ENERGY AND RESERVE MARKETS IN HIGH-RES SYSTEMS	16
ON THE TEMPORAL GRANULARITY OF JOINT ENERGY-RESERVE MARKETS IN A HIGH-RES SYSTEM	17
BENEFITS OF REGIONAL COORDINATION OF BALANCING CAPACITY MARKETS IN FUTURE EUROPEAN ELECTRICITY MARKETS	19
PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE-SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED WI	ITHIN
A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS & DEFINING THE TSO'S INVESTMENT SHARES FOR PSTS I	USED
FOR COORDINATED REDISPATCH	
INCREASING TECHNOLOGY NEUTRALITY IN SERVICE MARKETS IN POWER SYSTEMS WITH HIGH RES SHARES	22
ANALYSIS OF LONG-TERM INVESTMENT SIGNALS PROVIDED BY ANCILLARY SERVICES MARKETS	22
IMPACTS OF LEVINE ITY AND INIT COMMITMENT CHARACTERISTICS ON MARKET POWER EFFECTS	24
	25
	20 20
	20
1.2 WF3 ODJECTIVES.	29
1.3 TASK 3.4 AND RELATIONSHIP WITH OTHER TASKS	29
	30
2. METHODOLOGY AND APPROACH	31
	31
2.2 INTERACTION WITH TASK 3.2	33
3. ENHANCING TSO-DSO INTEGRATION TO FACILITATE MARKET ACCESS FOR DISTRIBUTED ENERGY RESOURCES	36
3.1 INTRODUCTION	36
3.1.1 CONTEXT AND OBJECTIVE	36
3.1.2 ILLUSTRATIVE CASES DEMONSTRATING THE IMPORTANCE OF TSO-DSO COORDINATION AND THE NEW ROLE OF DSO TO EN	ABLE
OPTIMAL ACCESS TO DER	39
3.2 METHODOLOGY	41
3.2.1 INCREMENTAL APPROACH	41
3.2.2 WHOLE-SYSTEM APPROACH	46
3.2.3 TEST SYSTEMS	48
3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS	50
3.3.1 VPP CHARACTERISTICS	50
3.3.2 IMPACT OF DISTRIBUTION NETWORK OPTIMIZATION	58
3.3.3 USE OF VPP TO SUPPORT TRANSMISSION	60
3.3.4 COMPARISON BETWEEN THE INCREMENTAL AND WHOLE-SYSTEM APPROACH	63
3.4 CONCLUSIONS	66
3.5 REFERENCES	67
4. INTERDEPENDENCE OF ENERGY AND RESERVE MARKETS IN HIGH-RES SYSTEMS	68
4.1 INTRODUCTION	68
4.2 METHODOLOGY	70
4.2.1 FRAMEWORK	70
4.2.2 NOMENCLATURE	71
4.2.3 MODEL DESCRIPTION	72
4.2.4 CASE STUDY	
4.2.5.1 MITATIONS	77
A 3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	77
4.3.1 OPERATIONAL SYSTEM COSTS	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
A 3 2 RESERVE ALLOCATION COSTS	
4.3.2 (LOCATION COSTS	Q1
4.3.4 IMDI ICATIONS COD DESERVIE MADVET DESIGN	01 00
	۲۵ ده
	دة
	84
5. UN THE TENTONAL GRANULARITT OF JUINT ENERGY-RESERVE MARKETS IN A HIGH-RES SYSTEM	ðb
	86
	89
5.2.1 UNIT COMMITMENT MODEL DESCRIPTION	89
5.2.2 WIND POWER FORECAST SCENARIO GENERATION	92
5.2.3 IESI SYSIEMS	93
5.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	95
5.3.1 IMPACT OF TEMPORAL GRANULARITY ON TOTAL OPERATING COST	95
5.3.2 IMPACT OF TEMPORAL GRANULARITY ON RESERVE MARKET SCARCITY	97



5.3.3 RELATION TO CURRENT EUROPEAN MARKET OPERATION	98
5.4 CONCLUSION	100
5.5 REFERENCES	101
6. BENEFITS OF REGIONAL COORDINATION OF BALANCING CAPACITY MARKETS IN FUTURE EUROPEAN ELECTRICITY MARKETS	104
6.1 INTRODUCTION	104
6.1.1 INTEGRATION OF EUROPEAN BALANCING MARKETS	104
6.1.2 POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR EXCHANGE AND SHARING OF BALANCING CAPACITY	105
6.1.3 GOAL AND OUTLINE	107
6.2 LITERATURE REVIEW	107
6.2.1 IMBALANCE NETTING AND BE EXCHANGE	107
6.2.2 BC EXCHANGE	108
6.2.3 BC SHARING	109
6.2.4 THIS CHAPTER'S CONTRIBUTION	110
6.3 METHODOLOGY	111
6.3.1 SCENARIOS	111
6.3.2 LIMITATIONS	111
6.4 MODEL DESCRIPTION	112
6.4.1 CORE MODEL FORMULATION	113
6.4.2 UNCOORDINATED PROCUREMENT OF BALANCING CAPACITY	115
6.4.3 COORDINATED PROCUREMENT OF BALANCING CAPACITY ("EXCHANGE")	115
6.4.4 COORDINATED SIZING AND PROCUREMENT OF BALANCING CAPACITY ("SHARING")	116
6.5 CASE STUDY	116
6.5.1 INPUT DATA	116
6.5.2 BALANCING CAPACITY CALCULATIONS	117
6.6 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	118
6.6.1 RESULTS OVERVIEW	118
6.6.2 BALANCING CAPACITY EXCHANGE	119
6.6.3 BALANCING CAPACITY SHARING	121
6.7 CONCLUSION	122
6.8 REFERENCES	124
6.9 APPENDIX	126
	126
0.9.1 AFFENDIX A. TECHNICAL AND ECONOMIC FARAMETERS	-
6.9.2 APPENDIX A: TECHNICAE AND ECONOMIC FARAMETERS	127
6.9.2 APPENDIX A: TECHNICAE AND ECONOMIC FARAMETERS 6.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED	127 WITHIN
6.9.2 APPENDIX A: TECHNICAE AND ECONOMIC FARAMETERS 6.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS	127 WITHIN 128
6.9.2 APPENDIX A: TECHNICAE AND ECONOMIC PARAMETERS 6.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS	127 WITHIN 128
6.9.2 APPENDIX A: TECHNICAE AND ECONOMIC PARAMETERS 6.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS 7.1 INTRODUCTION 7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW	127 WITHIN 128 128 129
6.9.2 APPENDIX A: TECHNICAE AND ECONOMIC FARAMETERS 6.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS 7.1 INTRODUCTION. 7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW. 7.3 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION	127 WITHIN 128 129 130
6.9.2 APPENDIX A: TECHNICAE AND ECONOMIC FARAMETERS 6.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS. 7.1 INTRODUCTION. 7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW. 7.3 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION	127 WITHIN 128 129 130 130
 6.9.2 APPENDIX A: TECHNICAE AND ECONOMIC PARAMETERS 6.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS. 7.1 INTRODUCTION. 7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW. 7.3 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION. 7.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION MODEL. 7.3.2 MODIFIED DC POWER FLOW FORMULATION. 	127 WITHIN 128 129 130 130 132
 6.9.2 APPENDIX R. TECHNICAE AND ECONOMIC PARAMETERS 6.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS. 7.1 INTRODUCTION. 7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW. 7.3 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION. 7.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION MODEL. 7.3.2 MODIFIED DC POWER FLOW FORMULATION. 7.3.3 PSDF+PTDF FORMULATION 	127 WITHIN 128 128 129 130 130 132 132
 6.9.2 APPENDIX A: TECHNICAE AND ECONOMIC FARAMETERS 6.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS. 7.1 INTRODUCTION. 7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW. 7.3 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION. 7.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION MODEL. 7.3.2 MODIFIED DC POWER FLOW FORMULATION	127 WITHIN 128 128 129 130 130 132 132 133
 6.9.2 APPENDIX R. TECHNICAE AND ECONOMIC PARAMETERS 6.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS. 7.1 INTRODUCTION. 7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW. 7.3 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION. 7.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION MODEL. 7.3.2 MODIFIED DC POWER FLOW FORMULATION. 7.3.3 PSDF+PTDF FORMULATION 7.4 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – METHODS FOR PRE-SELECTING THE CANDIDATES OF THE PST INVESTMENTS	127 WITHIN 128 128 129 130 130 132 133 133
 6.9.2 APPENDIX A: TECHNICAE AND ECONOMIC PARAMETERS 6.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS. 7.1 INTRODUCTION	127 WITHIN 128 128 129 130 130 132 133 133 133
6.9.2 APPENDIX A: TECHNICAE AND ECONOMIC PARAMETERS 6.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS	127 WITHIN 128 129 130 130 132 133 133 133
 6.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS. 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS. 7.1 INTRODUCTION. 7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW. 7.3 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION. 7.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION MODEL. 7.3.2 MODIFIED DC POWER FLOW FORMULATION 7.3.3 PSDF+PTDF FORMULATION 7.4 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – METHODS FOR PRE-SELECTING THE CANDIDATES OF THE PST INVESTMENTS. 7.4.1 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.4.2 PST MODELLING CONSIDERATION FOR THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR 7.4.3 CONGESTION FACTOR (CF) 7.4.4 METHODOLOGY FOR SELECTING THE PST CANDIDATES. 	127 WITHIN 128 128 129 130 130 132 133 133 133 135 136
 6.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS. 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS. 7.1 INTRODUCTION. 7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW. 7.3 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION. 7.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION MODEL. 7.3.2 MODIFIED DC POWER FLOW FORMULATION. 7.3.3 PSDF+PTDF FORMULATION – METHODS FOR PRE-SELECTING THE CANDIDATES OF THE PST INVESTMENTS. 7.4.1 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.4.2 PST MODELLING CONSIDERATION FOR THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.4.3 CONGESTION FACTOR (CF). 7.4.4 METHODOLOGY FOR SELECTING THE PST CANDIDATES. 7.5 RESULTS. 	
 6.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS	
 6.9.2 APPENDIX A: TECHNICAE AND LECONOMIC PANAMIC PRANAMIC PROBLEMS 6.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS	
 6.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS. 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS. 7.1 INTRODUCTION. 7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW. 7.3 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION	127 WITHIN 128 129 130 130 132 133 133 133 133 135 136 137 139 139 139
 6.9.2 APPENDIX A. TECHNICAL AND ECONOMIC PARAMITERS 6.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS. 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS. 7.1 INTRODUCTION. 7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW. 7.3 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION 7.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION MODEL. 7.3.2 MODIFIED DC POWER FLOW FORMULATION. 7.3.3 PSDF+PTDF FORMULATION 7.4 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – METHODS FOR PRE-SELECTING THE CANDIDATES OF THE PST INVESTMENTS 7.4.1 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.4.2 PST MODELLING CONSIDERATION FOR THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.4.3 CONGESTION FACTOR (CF) 7.4.4 METHODOLOGY FOR SELECTING THE PST CANDIDATES. 7.5.1 CONGESTION MANAGEMENT COORDINATION 7.5.2 LONG-TERM ANALYSIS – CANDIDATE SELECTION FOR PST INVESTMENTS. 7.5.3 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR METHOD 7.5.4 CONGESTION FACTOR METHOD 	127 WITHIN 128 128 129 130 130 132 133 133 133 133 135 136 137 139 139 139 140
 6.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS. 7.1 INTRODUCTION	127 WITHIN 128 128 129 130 130 132 133 133 133 135 136 137 139 139 139 140
 6.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS. 7.1 INTRODUCTION	127 WITHIN 128 128 129 130 130 132 133 133 133 135 136 137 137 139 139 140 141
 G.9.2 APPENDIX A: ICCINICAL AND ECONOMIC PARAMETERS G.9.2 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS 7.1 INTRODUCTION 7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW 7.3 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION 7.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION MODEL. 7.3.2 MODIFIED DC POWER FLOW FORMULATION 7.3.3 PSDF+PTDF FORMULATION 7.4 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – METHODS FOR PRE-SELECTING THE CANDIDATES OF THE PST INVESTMENTS 7.4.1 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.4.2 PST MODELLING CONSIDERATION FOR THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR 7.4.3 CONGESTION FACTOR (CF) 7.4.4 METHODOLOGY FOR SELECTING THE PST CANDIDATES. 7.5.1 CONGESTION MANAGEMENT COORDINATION 7.5.2 LONG-TERM ANALYSIS – CANDIDATE SELECTION FOR PST INVESTMENTS. 7.5.3 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR METHOD 7.5.4 CONGESTION FACTOR METHOD 7.5.4 CONGESTION FACTOR METHOD 7.5.5 SUMMARY OF THE VALIDATION RESULTS 7.6 EU-SYSFLEX SCENARIOS. 7.7 CONCLUSIONS. 	
 G.9.1 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS. 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS. 7.1 INTRODUCTION. 7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW. 7.3 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION. 7.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION MODEL. 7.3.2 MODIFIED DC POWER FLOW FORMULATION. 7.3.3 PSDF+PTDF FORMULATION. 7.4.1 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.4.1 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.4.2 PST MODELLING CONSIDERATION FOR THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.4.3 CONGESTION FACTOR (CF). 7.4.4 METHODOLOGY FOR SELECTING THE PST CANDIDATES. 7.5.7 RESULTS. 7.5.1 CONGESTION MANAGEMENT COORDINATION. 7.5.2 LONG-TERM ANALYSIS – CANDIDATE SELECTION FOR PST INVESTMENTS. 7.5.3 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR METHOD. 7.5.4 CONGESTION FACTOR METHOD. 7.5.4 CONGESTION FACTOR METHOD. 7.5.5 SUMMARY OF THE VALIDATION RESULTS. 7.6 EU-SYSFLEX SCENARIOS. 7.7 CONCLUSIONS. 7.8 REFERENCES. 	
 G.9.1 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS. 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS. 7.1 INTRODUCTION. 7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW. 7.3 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION - CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION. 7.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION MODEL. 7.3.2 MODIFIED DC POWER FLOW FORMULATION. 7.3.3 PSDF+PTDF FORMULATION 7.4 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION - METHODS FOR PRE-SELECTING THE CANDIDATES OF THE PST INVESTMENTS. 7.4.1 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.4.2 PST MODELLING CONSIDERATION FOR THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.4.3 CONGESTION FACTOR (CF) 7.4.4 METHODOLOGY FOR SELECTING THE PST CANDIDATES. 7.5 RESULTS. 7.5 RESULTS. 7.5.1 CONGESTION MANAGEMENT COORDINATION 7.5.2 LONG-TERM ANALYSIS - CANDIDATE SELECTION FOR PST INVESTMENTS. 7.5.3 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR METHOD. 7.5.4 CONGESTION FACTOR METHOD. 7.5.4 CONGESTION FACTOR METHOD. 7.5.5 SUMMARY OF THE VALIDATION RESULTS. 7.6 EU-SYSFLEX SCENARIOS. 7.7 CONCLUSIONS. 7.8 REFERENCES. 7.9 APPENDIX. 	
 G.9.1 APPENDIX A: ICUMUCAL AND TECHNORE PRAVIDE TANAMICE TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS. 7.1 INTRODUCTION. 7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW. 7.3 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION. 7.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION MODEL. 7.3.2 MODIFIED DC POWER FLOW FORMULATION. 7.3.3 PSDF+PTDF FORMULATION	
 G.9.1 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS. 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS. 7.1 INTRODUCTION. 7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW. 7.3 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION. 7.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION MODEL. 7.3.2 MODIFIED DC POWER FLOW FORMULATION. 7.3.3 PSDF+PTDF FORMULATION	
 6.9.1 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS. 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS. 7.1 INTRODUCTION. 7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW 7.3 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION 7.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION MODEL. 7.3.2 MODIFIED DC POWER FLOW FORMULATION. 7.3.3 PSDF+PTDF FORMULATION 7.4 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION N – METHODS FOR PRE-SELECTING THE CANDIDATES OF THE PST INVESTMENTS. 7.4 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION FOR THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.4.2 PST MODELLING CONSIDERATION FOR THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.4.3 CONGESTION MANAGEMENT COORDINATION 7.4.4 METHODOLOGY FOR SELECTING THE PST CANDIDATES. 7.5 RESULTS. 7.5.1 CONGESTION MANAGEMENT COORDINATION 7.5.2 LONG-TERM ANALYSIS – CANDIDATE SELECTION FOR PST INVESTMENTS. 7.5.3 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR METHOD. 7.5.4 CONGESTION FACTOR METHOD. 7.5.4 CONGESTION FACTOR METHOD. 7.5.5 SUMMARY OF THE VALIDATION RESULTS. 7.6 EU-SYSFLEX SCENARIOS. 7.7 CONCLUSIONS. 7.8 REFERENCES. 7.9 APPENDIX. 7.9.1 A1. DATA CONSIDERATION FOR THE GENERATION COST. 7.9.2 A2. POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS OF THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.9.2 A2. POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS OF THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.9.2 A2. POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS OF THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.9.2 A3. POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS OF THE CONGESTION FACTOR 7.9.2 A3. POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS OF THE CONGESTION FACTOR 	127 WITHIN 128 128 129 130 130 132 133 133 133 135 136 137 139 139 140 141 144 144
 G.9.1 APPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS. 7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS. 7.1 INTRODUCTION. 7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW. 7.3 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION. 7.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION MODEL. 7.3.2 MODIFIED DC POWER FLOW FORMULATION. 7.3.3 PSDF+PTDF FORMULATION. 7.4 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – METHODS FOR PRE-SELECTING THE CANDIDATES OF THE PST INVESTMENTS. 7.4.1 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.4.2 PST MODELLING CONSIDERATION FOR THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.4.3 CONGESTION FACTOR (CF). 7.4.4 METHODOLOGY FOR SELECTING THE PST CANDIDATES. 7.5.1 CONGESTION MANAGEMENT COORDINATION 7.5.2 LONG-TERM ANALYSIS – CANDIDATE SELECTION FOR PST INVESTMENTS. 7.5.3 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR METHOD. 7.5.4 CONGESTION FACTOR METHOD. 7.5.4 CONGESTION FACTOR METHOD. 7.5.4 SCHARAY OF THE VALIDATION RESULTS. 7.6 EU-SYSFLEX SCENARIOS. 7.7 A PPENDIX. 7.9 A PAPENDIX. 7.9.1 A1. DATA CONSIDERATION FOR THE GENERATION COST. 7.9.3 A3. POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS OF THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR 7.9.3 A3. POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS OF THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR 7.9.3 A3. POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS OF THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR 7.9.3 A4. COMBINATION FOR THE GENERATION COST. 7.9.3 A4. COMBINATION OF PST CANDIDATES – HORIZONTAL CONGESTION FACTOR. 7.9.4 A4. COMBINATION FOR THE GENERATION COST. 7.9.3 A3. POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS OF THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR 7.9.3 A3. POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS OF THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR 7.9.3 A4. COMBINATION OF PST CANDIDATES – HORIZONTAL CONGESTION FACTOR. 	
O. 3.1 AFPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS OPAAMMETERS OPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS 7.1 INTRODUCTION. 7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW. 7.3 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION. 7.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION. 7.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION MODEL. 7.3.2 MODIFIED DC POWER FLOW FORMULATION. 7.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – METHODS FOR PRE-SELECTING THE CANDIDATES OF THE PST INVESTMENTS. 7.4.1 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.4.2 PST MODELLING CONSIDERATION FOR THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.4.3 CONGESTION FACTOR (CF). 7.4.4 METHODOLOGY FOR SELECTING THE PST CANDIDATES. 7.5.1 CONGESTION FACTOR (CF). 7.5.2 LONG-TERM ANALYSIS – CANDIDATE SELECTION FOR PST INVESTMENTS. 7.5.3 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR METHOD. 7.5.4 CONGESTION FACTOR (CF). 7.5.4 CONGESTION FACTOR (CF). 7.5.5 SUMMARY OF THE VALIDATION RESULTS 7.5.6 EU-SYSFLEX SCENARIOS. 7.7 CONCLUSIONS. 7.7 CONCLUSIONS. 7.9 APPENDIX. 7.9 APPENDIX. 7.9 APPENDIX. 7.9.1 A1. DATA CONSIDERATION FOR THE GENERATION COST. 7.9.3 A3. POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS OF THE WULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.9.4 A4. COMBIDERATION FOR THE GENERATION COST. 7.9.3 A3. POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS OF THE WULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.9.4 A4. CONSIDERATION FOR THE GENERATION COST. 7.9.4 A4. CONSIDERATION FOR THE GENERATION COST. 7.9.3 A3. POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS OF THE WULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.9.4 A4. COMBIDERATION FOR THE GENERATION COST. 7.9.4 A4. COMBIDERATION FOR THE GENERATION COST. 7.9.3 A3. POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS OF THE WULTIPLIER INDICATOR. 7.9.4 A4. COMBIDERATION FOR THE GENERATION COST. 7.9.3 A3. POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS OF THE CONDEDINTED REDISTION FACTOR. 7.9.4 A4. COMBIDERATION FOR THE GENERATION COST. 7.9.3 A3. POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS	
O.S.I. AFPENDIX B: BALANCING CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS OPACHT REQUIREMENTS PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS 7.1 INTRODUCTION. 7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW. 7.3 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION 7.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION 7.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION MODEL. 7.3.2 MODIFIED DC POWER FLOW FORMULATION. 7.3.3 PSDF+PTDF FORMULATION OF THE CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION MODEL. 7.3.4 MODIFIED DC POWER FLOW FORMULATION. 7.3.3 PSDF+PTDF FORMULATION 7.4.1 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR 7.4.1 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR 7.4.2 PST MODELLING CONSIDERATION FOR THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR 7.4.2 PST MODELLING CONSIDERATION FOR THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR 7.4.4 METHODOLOGY FOR SELECTING THE PST CANDIDATES. 7.5.1 CONGESTION MANAGEMENT COORDINATION 7.5.2 LONG-TERM ANALYSIS – CANDIDATE SELECTION FOR PST INVESTMENTS. 7.5.3 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR METHOD 7.5.4 CONGESTION FACTOR METHOD 7.5.4 CONGESTION FOR THE GENERATION COST 7.9.1 A1. DATA CONSIDERATION FOR THE GENERATION COST 7.9.2 A2. POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS OF THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR 7.9.3 A3. POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS OF THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR 7.9.4 A4. COMBINATION OF PST CANDIDATES – HORIZONTAL CONGESTION FACTOR 7.9.4 A4. COMBINATION OF PST CANDIDATES FOR PST USED FOR COORDINATED REDISPATCH 8.1 INTRODUCTION.	
 G.9.1 APPENDIX B. IECHNOLA AND EQUIVABILIENS G.9.2 APPENDIX B. IECHNOLA AND EQUIVABILIENS T.7. PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS T.1 INTRODUCTION. T.2 LITERATURE REVIEW. T.3 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION – CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION. T.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION. T.3.1 THEORETICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE CROSS-BORDER COORDINATION MODEL. T.3.2 MODIFIED DC POWER FLOW FORMULATION T.3.3 PSDF+PTDF FORMULATION – METHODS FOR PRE-SELECTING THE CANDIDATES OF THE PST INVESTMENTS T.4.1 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR T.4.2 PST MODELLING CONSIDERATION FOR THE MULTIPLIER INDICATOR. T.4.3 CONGESTION MANAGEMENT COORDINATION T.5.1 CONGESTION MANAGEMENT COORDINATION T.5.2 CONGESTION MANAGEMENT COORDINATION T.5.3 MULTIPLIER INDICATOR METHOD T.5.4 CONGESTION MANAGEMENT COORDINATION FOR PST INVESTMENTS. T.5.4 CONGESTION MANAGEMENT COORDINATION T.5.5 SUMMARY OF THE VALIDATION RESULTS T.6 EL-SYSFLEX SCENARIOS T.9 APPENDIX. T.9.1 AL DATA CONSIDERATION FOR THE GENERATION COST. T.9.2 A2. POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS OF THE GENERATION COST. T.9.3 A2. POSSIBLE EXTENSIONS OF THE GENERATION COST. T.9.4 A4. COMBIDATION FOR THE GENERATION COST. T.9.4 A4. COMBIDATION OF PST CANDIDATES – HORIZONTAL CONGESTION FACTOR. S.1 DHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMER AS AN INVESTMENT 8.1 L PHASE SHIFTING TRANSFORMER AS AN INVESTMENT 	



8.1.2 COST SHARING OF COORDINATED REDISPATCH	
8.2 METHOD FOR DEFINING INVESTMENT SHARES	
8.2.1 CALCULATION OF COST SHARING KEY	
8.2.2 INVESTMENT SHARES	
8.3 RESULTS	
8.3.1 INPUT DATA	
8.3.2 INVESTMENT SHARE OUTCOMES	
8.3.3 ASSESSING PARTITIONS OF COSTS	
8.4 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE STEPS	
8.5 REFERENCES	
8.6 APPENDIX	
8.6.1 ASSUMPTIONS ON REDISPATCH COSTS	
8.6.2 NUMERICAL VALUES OF ZONAL COSTS, SAVINGS AND SHARES	
9. INCREASING TECHNOLOGY NEUTRALITY IN SERVICE MARKETS IN POWER SYSTEMS WITH HIGH RES SHARES	
9.1 INTRODUCTION	
9.1.1 FUTURE SYSTEMS: TECHNICAL SCARCITIES AND SYSTEM SERVICES	
9.1.2 ACCESS TO MARKETS FOR SYSTEM SERVICES	
9.1.3 CHALLENGES AND CONTRIBUTIONS	
9.2 MODELING AND SIMULATING SERVICE MARKETS	
9.2.1 ENERGY AND SERVICE MARKETS: CO-OPTIMIZATION	
9.2.2 SEQUENTIAL CLEARING IN SERVICE MARKETS	
9.2.3 DECISION-MAKING IN MULTI-MARKET CONTEXT	
9.3 SEQUENTIAL MODELING OF SERVICE MARKETS	
9.3.1 TIME SEQUENCE OF THE SIMULATION	
9.3.2 BUILDING BLOCKS OF THE SIMULATOR	
9.3.3 ACCESS TO (SHARED) MARKET INFORMATION	
9.3.4 FORECASTING FOR DECISION-MAKING	
9.4 BIDDING IN ENERGY AND SERVICE MARKETS	
9.4.1 PROBLEM DEFINITION	
9.4.2 BID GENERATOR ARCHITECTURE	
9.4.3 MFRR BIDDING STRATEGIES	
9.4.4 DAY-AHEAD BIDDING STRATEGY	
9.4.5 TIME SERIES FORECASTER: PRICES AND AVAILABILITY	
9.5 CASE-STUDY: SHORTENING PROCUREMENT CYCLE	
9.5.1 CONTEXT AND FUTURE SCENARIOS	
9.5.2 ASSUMPTIONS AND INPUT DATA	
9.5.3 SENSITIVITIES	
9.5.4 RESULTS ON SYSTEM LEVEL	
9.5.5 RESULTS ON TECHNOLOGY LEVEL	
9.6 CONCLUSIONS	
9.7 REFERENCES	
9.8 APPENDIX	
9.8.1 ADDITIONAL INPUT DATA	
10. ANALYSIS OF LONG-TERM INVESTMENT SIGNALS PROVIDED BY ANCILLARY SERVICES MARKETS	191
10.1 INTRODUCTION	
10.2 METHODOLOGY	
10.3 RESULTS	
10.3.1 INVESTMENT MODEL RESULTS	
10.3.2 SCHEDULING MODEL RESULTS	
10.4 DISCUSSION & CONCLUSIONS	
10.5 REFERENCES	
11. IMPACTS OF FLEXIBILITY AND UNIT COMMITMENT CHARACTERISTICS ON MARKET POWER EFFECTS	
11.2 MODELLING APPROACH	
11.2.1 INIUDELLING ASSUMPTIONS	
11.2.2 BI-LEVEL OPTIMIZATION MODEL OF STRATEGIC PLAYER	
11.2.3 DETERMINATION OF MARKET EQUILIBRIUM	
11.3.1 INTRACT OF CONSIDERING UNIT COMMUTMENT CHARACTERISTICS ON STRATEGIC REPORTS	
11.3.2 INTRACT OF CONSIDERING UNIT COMINITINENT CHARACTERISTICS ON STRATEGIC BIDDING	





LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1-1: TASK 3.4 IN THE WIDER CONTEXT OF WP3 AND THE EU-SYSFLEX PROJECT
FIGURE 3-1: POTENTIAL GB-WIDE BENEFITS OF IMPROVING TRANSMISSION AND DISTRIBUTION CONTROL COORDINATION TO MAXIMIS
THE VALUE OF FLEXIBILITY FROM THE WHOLE-SYSTEM PERSPECTIVE
FIGURE 3-2: HOW THE ROLE OF DSO MAY EVOLVE TO FACILITATE DER PARTICIPATION IN ELECTRICITY AND ANCILLARY SERVICE MARKET
FIGURE 3-3: AN ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLE SHOWING THE POSSIBLE CONFLICT BETWEEN TSO AND DSO DUE TO THE USE OF DER SERVICE
TO SUPPORT TRANSMISSION
FIGURE 3-4: AN ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLE DEMONSTRATING DSO'S ACTION TO RESOLVE A CONFLICT CAUSED BY NO COORDINATED TSO
ACTION FOR USING DER SERVICES
FIGURE 3-5: AN ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLE DEMONSTRATING THE NEW ROLE OF DSO TO ENABLE OPTIMAL ACCESS TO DER
FIGURE 3-6: INTERACTION BETWEEN MARKET PLAYERS, TSO, AND DSO IN THE INCREMENTAL APPROACH INVOLVING LOCAL ANI
WHOLESALE ELECTRICITY MARKETS
FIGURE 3-7: VIRTUAL POWER PLANT CONCEPT
FIGURE 3-8: CHARACTERISATION PROCESS OF VPP
FIGURE 3-9: INCREMENTAL APPROACH: MARKET PROCEDURE AHEAD OF THE REAL-TIME AND SETTLEMENT PERIOD4
FIGURE 3-10: INCREMENTAL APPROACH: MARKET PROCEDURE FOR THE REAL-TIME AND SETTLEMENT PERIOD40
FIGURE 3-11: INTERACTION BETWEEN MARKET PLAYERS, TSO, AND DSO IN THE WHOLE-SYSTEM APPROACH INVOLVING ALL ELECTRICIT
MARKETS IN A MARKETPLACE
FIGURE 3-12: WHOLE-SYSTEM APPROACH: MARKET PROCEDURE AHEAD OF THE REAL-TIME AND SETTLEMENT PERIOD
FIGURE 3-13: WHOLE-SYSTEM APPROACH: MARKET PROCEDURE FOR THE REAL-TIME AND SETTLEMENT PERIOD
FIGURE 3-14: DISTRIBUTION TEST SYSTEM
FIGURE 3-15: TRANSMISSION TEST SYSTEM
FIGURE 3-16: PQ CAPABILITY OF VPP
FIGURE 3-17: VOLTAGES AT THE MINIMUM AND MAXIMUM MW OUTPUT OF THE VPP
FIGURE 3-18: VOLTAGES AT THE MINIMUM AND MAXIMUM MVAR OUTPUT OF THE VPP
FIGURE 3-19: COST FUNCTION OF MW OUTPUT
FIGURE 3-20: COST FUNCTION OF MVAR OUTPUT
FIGURE 3-21: MERIT ORDER MW DISPATCH OF VPP
FIGURE 3-22: MERIT ORDER MVAR DISPATCH OF VPP
FIGURE 3-23: IMPACT OF MODULATING MW OUTPUT OF VPP ON DISTRIBUTION LOSSES
FIGURE 3-24: IMPACT OF MODULATING MVAR OUTPUT OF VPP ON DISTRIBUTION LOSSES
FIGURE 3-25: IMPACT OF MODULATING MVAR OUTPUT OF VPP ON DISTRIBUTION LOSSES
FIGURE 3-26: THREE SINGLE CIRCUIT OUTAGES CONSIDERED IN THE STUDY
FIGURE 3-27: PQ CURVE OF THE VPP UNDER DIFFERENT CONDITIONS
FIGURE 3-28: IMPACT OF OPTIMISING TAPCHANGING TRANSFORMERS ON REACTIVE CAPABILITY OF THE VPP
FIGURE 3-29: IMPACT OF OPTIMISING TAPCHANGING TRANSFORMER SETTINGS ON THE VPP'S MVAR COST FUNCTION
FIGURE 3-30: IMPACT OF OPTIMISING TAPCHANGING TRANSFORMERS AND REACTIVE COMPENSATOR ON REACTIVE CAPABILITY OF TH
VPP
FIGURE 3-31: UNDER-VOLTAGE TRANSMISSION PROBLEM
FIGURE 3-32: TRADITIONAL VS VPP SOLUTION FOR THE UNDER-VOLTAGE PROBLEM
FIGURE 3-33: USING VPP A AS AN ALTERNATIVE SOLUTION
FIGURE 3-34: USING VPP TO SOLVE A NETWORK-CONGESTION PROBLEM
FIGURE 3-35: USING VPP TO SOLVE A NETWORK-CONGESTION PROBLEM
FIGURE 3-36: USING N-1 SECURED VPP SOLUTION TO SOLVE A NETWORK-CONGESTION PROBLEM
FIGURE 3-37: INCREMENTAL APPROACH
FIGURE 3-38: WHOLE-SYSTEM APPROACH



FIGURE 4-1: OVERVIEW OF THE FRAMEWORK, CONSISTING OF 3 MARKET PHASES (ENERGY MARKET, RESERVE ALLOCATION AND RESERVE
ACTIVATION) AND 2 MARKET DESIGNS (SEQUENTIAL AND JOINT DESIGN), WITH 5 DIFFERENT MODEL RUNS (S1-S3 AND J1-J2)
FIGURE 4-2: DIFFERENCE IN OPERATIONAL SYSTEM COSTS BETWEEN SEQUENTIAL AND JOINT ENERGY-RESERVE CLEARING, FOR DIFFERENT
SHARES OF WIND AND SOLAR PV (COST EVALUATED FOR A FULL YEAR AFTER REAL-TIME PHASE)
FIGURE 4-3: DRIVERS OF DIFFERENCE IN OPERATIONAL SYSTEMS COSTS BETWEEN SEQUENTIAL AND JOINT ENERGY-RESERVE CLEARING
IN THE ENERGY TRANSITION SCENARIO, FOR DIFFERENT SHARES OF WIND AND SOLAR PV (COST EVALUATED FOR A FULL YEAR AFTER
REAL-TIME PHASE)
FIGURE 4-4: RESERVE ALLOCATION COSTS IN THE ENERGY TRANSITION SCENARIO, FOR DIFFERENT SHARES OF WIND AND SOLAR PV (COST
EVALUATED FOR A FULL YEAR AFTER DAY-AHEAD MARKET)80
FIGURE 4-5: CONTRIBUTION TO ALLOCATION OF SPINNING RESERVES IN THE ENERGY TRANSITION SCENARIO, BY DIFFERENT RESERVE
PROVIDERS (FOR A FULL YEAR)
FIGURE 4-6: DIFFERENCE IN OPERATIONAL SYSTEM COSTS BETWEEN SEQUENTIAL AND JOINT ENERGY-RESERVE CLEARING IN THE ENERGY
TRANSITION SCENARIO, FOR DIFFERENT SHARES OF WIND AND SOLAR PV AND DIFFERENT LEVELS OF ALLOCATION COSTS FOR LOAD AND
RENEWABLES (COST EVALUATED FOR A FULL YEAR AFTER THE REAL-TIME PHASE)
FIGURE 5-1: ILLUSTRATION OF THE UPWARD RESERVE REQUIREMENTS AND THE TEMPORAL ASPECTS OF RESERVE MARKETS, WITH AN
RSF OF 24H, RSR OF 3H, AND RPCD OF 1QH. THE RPF (NOT SHOWN) WAS SYNCHRONOUS WITH THE RSF IN THIS EXAMPLE
FIGURE 5-2: THE PLANNING HORIZON OF EACH OPTIMIZATION (MARKET CLEARING) CONSISTS OF A BALANCING STAGE A, A FINAL
COMMITMENT STAGE B, AND AN UPDATE STAGE C
FIGURE 5-3: THE DESIGN RELIABILITY (DR) IS THE CUMULATIVE PROBABILITY OF FORECAST ERRORS THAT ARE NOT COVERED BY THE
OPERATING RESERVES. THE DR IS EQUALLY DISTRIBUTED OVER THE UPWARD AND DOWNWARD RESERVES; USING THE CDF OF THE WIND
POWER FORECAST ERRORS (AT THE FORECAST LEAD TIME EACH TIME STEP), THE CORRESPONDING UPWARD AND DOWNWARD RESERVE
REQUIREMENTS CAN BE DETERMINED
FIGURE 5-4: SUPERIMPOSING THE GENERATED FORECAST ERRORS ON A CENTRAL FORECAST (THE MEASURED POWER) YIELDS FORECAST
UPDATES (HOURLY UPDATES SHOWN IN COLOUR)
FIGURE 5-5: OPERATING COST SAVINGS NORMALIZED W.R.T. THE TOTAL OPERATING COST FOR CASE (1) ADD UP TO 1.8% AND 1.5% BY
ADOPTING HIGHER TEMPORAL GRANULARITIES IN THE ET SYSTEM [LEFT] AND RA SYSTEM [RIGHT], RESPECTIVELY.
FIGURE 5-6: THE AMOUNT OF LOAD CURTAILMENT SCHEDULED IN THE ENERGY AND/OR RESERVE MARKETS IN THE ET SCENARIO [LEFT]
AND RA SCENARIO [RIGHT] IS COMPLETELY ELIMINATED BY ADOPTING THE HIGHEST TEMPORAL GRANULARITY
FIGURE 6-1: INSTALLED CAPACITY (LEFT) AND ELECTRICITY SCHEDULED DAY-AHEAD (MIDDLE-LEFT) FOR THE "NO" SCENARIO
(UNCOORDINATED), AND AVERAGE UPWARD AFRR (MIDDLE-RIGHT) AND UPWARD MFRR (RIGHT)
FIGURE 6-2: DAY-AHEAD SCHEDULED ELECTRICITY IN FRANCE (LEFT), AFRR PROCUREMENT IN FRANCE (MIDDLE-LEFT), BELGIUM-FRANCE
ENERGY AND BC EXCHANGE (MIDDLE-RIGHT), GERMANY-FRANCE ENERGY AND BC EXCHANGE (RIGHT) FOR THE UNCOORDINATED (NO)
AND BC EXCHANGE (EX) SCENARIOS FOR A 24-HOUR PERIOD (SEP 4)
FIGURE 6-3: USE OF FLEXIBLE CAPACITY [GW] (CCGT, OCGT, OIL) IN ALL 5 COUNTRIES (BE, DE, FR, LU, NL) FOR A WEEK (SEP 4-10). "AFRR-
J" IS THE JOINT AFRR REQUIRMENT, "AFRR-S" IS THE SUM OF COUNTRIES' SEPARATE REQUIREMENTS (ANALOGUE FOR MFRR). "FL. CAP"
IS UNUSED FLEXIBLE CAPACITY. "FL. DA-E", "FL. AFRR" AND "FL. MFRR" ARE THE FLEXIBLE CAPACITY CONTRIBUTIONS TO DAY-AHEAD
ELECTRICITY, UPWARD AFRR AND UPWARD MFRR, RESPECTIVELY
FIGURE 6-4: BOXPLOTS FOR UPWARD AFRR (LEFT) AND UPWARD MFRR (MIDDLE-LEFT) PER COUNTRY, AND SEPARATE AND JOINT
UPWARD AFRR (MIDDLE-RIGHT) AND UPWARD MFRR (RIGHT) [ALL IN GW] WHERE "SEPARATE" IS THE SUM OF COUNTRIES' INDIVIDUAL
NEEDS AND "JOINT" IS THE RESULT OF A JOINT SIZING EXERCISE
FIGURE 7-1: CONGESTIONS ON CBCOS PER BORDERS. THE WIDT OF THE ORANGE LINE IS PROPORTIONAL TO THE PRODUCT OF AVERAGE
CONGESTION SEVERITY (WHEN CONGESTION IS NON-ZERO) AND THE TOTAL NUMBER OF CONGESTED CBCOS PER BORDER ACROSS 24
GRID SCENARIOS
FIGURE 7-2: TOP 6 LOCATIONS ACCORDING TO THE TOP 9 MULTIPLIER INDICATORS (CF. TABLE 7.3). THE VOLUME OF THE CIRCLE AT
LOCATION IS PROPORTIONAL TO THE MI AGGREGATED FOR BRANCHES IN THE SAME LOCATION.
FIGURE 7-3: TOP 7 LOCATIONS ACCORDING TO THE 8 MULTIPLIER INDICATORS (CF. TABLE 7.4). THE VOLUME OF THE CIRCLE AT LOCATION
IS PROPORTIONAL TO THE CF AGGREGATED FOR BRANCHES IN THE SAME LOCATION
FIGURE 8-1: FLOW-CHART OF COST SHARING PROCESS INVOLVING SYSTEM ANALYSIS (A)



FIGURE 8-2: INITIAL MODEL (A) DECOMPOSED INTO A BALANCING MODEL (B) AND MODEL WITH EXCHANGES (C) ACCORDING TO P	FC
	21
FIGURE 8-3: EXAMPLE OF TRANSFORMATION: NETTED FLOW COMPONENTS OF TYPE 1 AND, PARTLY, TYPE 2 ARE CONSIDER	ED
RESPONSIBLE FOR EACEEDING THE FLOW LIMIT. IN THIS CASE FLOW TYPE 2 IS CONSIDERED THE LAST ONE RESPONSIBLE FOR CAUSII	10
OVERLOAD, AND TRANSFORMATION ALGORITHM TERMINATES WITH P*=2	52
FIGURE 8-4: OVERLOAD [MW] IDENTIFIED ON PARTICULAR BORDERS FOR 24 TIMESTAMPS OF REFERENCE SCENARIO	55
FIGURE 8-5: ZONAL FRACTIONAL SHARES AVERAGED OVER ALL CONGESTED NETWORK ELEMENTS WITH THE HIGHEST OVERLOAD1	56
FIGURE 8-6: ZONAL COSTS (A) AND SAVINGS (B) DUE TO INVESTMENTS ON GERMAN-AUSTRIAN (DA) AND POLISH-CZECH (PC) BORD	ER 57
FIGURE 8-7: INVESTMENT SHARES FOR BOTH LOCATIONS OF NEW PST (DA AND PC)	58
FIGURE 9-1: SEQUENCE OF MARKET OVERLAPS FOR A WEEKLY PROCUREMENT OF MERR AND DAY-AHEAD MARKET	70
FIGURE 9-2: BUILDING BLOCKS OF THE SIMULATOR SHOWING MAIN ACTORS AND INTERACTION	71
	75
FIGURE 9-5. BUILDING BLOCKS OF BID GENERATOR SHOWING DIFFERENT COMPONENTS	רי ה
FIGURE 9-4: EXAMPLE FOR RESULTING DEMAND AND SUPPLY CORVE FOR THE DAT-AREAD MARKET (A) AND MIRR CONTRACTING (I	ы. 07
FIGURE 3-3. OFFERED VOLUME GROUPED BY TECHNOLOGY AVERAGED BY SEASON (FOR RA SCENARIO WITH HIGH WIFRE OF DEMIAN	ОГ
	85
FIGURE 9-6: OFFERED VOLUME GROUPED BY TECHNOLOGY AVERAGED BY MONTH (FOR RA SCENARIO WITH HIGH MFRR DOWN DEMAN	D)
	85
FIGURE 9-7: HISTOGRAM OF WEIGHTED AVERAGE PRICES (€/MW.H) FOR THE DIFFERENT PROCUREMENT CYCLES FOR THE LOW MFI	RR
DEMAND SCENARIO	86
FIGURE 10-1 TOTAL INSTALLED CAPACITIES FOR FIVE RESERVE SCENARIOS FOR (A) STEADY EVOLUTION (SE) SCENARIO AND (B) LO	W
CARBON LIVING (LCL) SCENARIO	96
FIGURE 10-2 INVESTMENTS BY GENERATION TYPE FOR FIVE RESERVE SCENARIOS FOR (A) STEADY EVOLUTION SCENARIO AND (B) LO	W
CARBON LIVING SCENARIO	98
FIGURE 10-3 INVESTMENT DECISIONS AGAINST THE BASE SCENARIOS AND 4 SENSITIVITIES FOR FIVE RESERVE SCENARIOS FOR (A) STEAD	DY
EVOLUTION AND (B) LOW CARBON LIVING SCENARIOS	00
FIGURE 10-4 OPERATING COST COMPARISON BETWEEN THE FIVE RESERVE SCENARIOS FOR (A) STEADY EVOLUTION AND (B) LOW CARBO	ON
LIVING SCENARIOS	02
FIGURE 10-5 TOTAL COST COMPARISON BETWEEN THE FIVE RESERVE SCENARIOS FOR (A) STEADY EVOLUTION AND (B) LOW CARBO	ЭN
LIVING SCENARIOS	03
FIGURE 10-6 ANNUAL WIND AND SOLAR CURTAILMENT LEVEL COMPARISON BETWEEN THE FIVE RESERVE SCENARIOS	04
FIGURE 10-7 PAYMENTS TO BATTERIES BASED ON MARGINAL COSTS FOR ENERGY AND THE THREE RESERVE PRODUCTS. DISPLAYED FO	OR
STEADY EVOLUTION AND LOW CARBON LIVING FOR THE TOTAL INSTALLED BATTERY CAPACITY (MILLIONS €) AND AVERAGE PAYME	NT
PER INSTALLED MW OF BATTERY CAPACITY (THOUSANDS €)	05
FIGURE 11-1: STRUCTURE OF BI-LEVEL OPTIMIZATION MODEL OF STRATEGIC PLAYER'S DECISION MAKING	14
FIGURE 11-2: FLOWCHART OF ITERATIVE DIAGONALISATION METHOD	16
FIGURE 11-3: MODEL OF GB TRANSMISSION NETWORK	17
FIGURE 11-4: HOURLY SYSTEM DEMAND FOR DIFFERENT DEMAND FLEXIBILITY SCENARIOS	19
FIGURE 11-5: HOURLY MARKET PRICE INCREMENT DRIVEN BY THE EXERCISE OF MARKET POWER FOR DIFFERENT DEMAND FLEXIBILI	ТҮ
SCENARIOS	19
FIGURE 11-6: AVERAGE LERNER INDEX AND GENERATION PROFIT DEVIATION INDEX FOR DIFFERENT DEMAND FLEXIBILITY SCENARIO	OS
	20
FIGURE 11-7: DEMAND UTILITY DEVIATION INDEX AND MARKET INEFFICIENCY INDEX FOR DIFFERENT DEMAND FLEXIBILITY SCENARIO	OS 20
FIGURE 11-8: GENERATION PROFIT DEVIATION INDEX OF PRODUCERS IN SCOTLAND AND ENGLAND FOR DIFFERENT NETWORK CASES?	20 22
FIGURE 11-9: DEMAND UTILITY DEVIATION INDEX OF DEMANDS IN SCOTLAND AND ENGLAND FOR DIFFERENT NETWORK CASES	22
FIGURE 11-10: MARKET INFERICIENCY INDEX FOR DIFFERENT NETWORK CASES	23



FIGURE 11-11: HOURLY SYSTEM DEMAND FOR DIFFERENT ENERGY STORAGE SCENARIOS	224
FIGURE 11-12: HOURLY MARKET PRICE INCREMENT DRIVEN BY THE EXERCISE OF MARKET POWER FOR DIFFERENT ENERGY	GY STORAGE
SCENARIOS	



LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 3-1: EXAMPLES OF GENERATION AND CONTROLLABLE LOAD PARAMETERS FOR AGGREGATION TO CHARACTERISE A VIR	TUAL
POWER PLANT	43
TABLE 3-2: GENERATION DATA FOR THE VPP STUDIES	49
TABLE 3-3 COMPARISON BETWEEN THE INCREMENTAL AND WHOLE-SYSTEM APPROACH	65
TABLE 4-1: OVERVIEW OF THE DIFFERENT CONSIDERED SCENARIOS FOR THE CENTRAL WESTERN EUROPEAN POWER SYSTEM. CC	CGT =
COMBINED CYCLE GAS TURBINE, OCGT = OPEN CYCLE GAS TURBINE, ICE = INTERNAL COMBUSTION ENGINE.}	76
TABLE 4-2: OVERVIEW OF TECHNICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE POWER PLANT PORTFOLIO [36]. DIFFERENT EFFICIENCIES ARE USED BA	ASED
ON THE COMMISSIONING YEAR OF POWER PLANTS. MUT = MINIMUM UP TIME, MDT = MINIMUM DOWN TIME	76
TABLE 5-1: ENERGY TRANSITION (ET) AND RENEWABLE AMBITION (RA) THERMAL AND PUMPED HYDRO GENERATION PORTFOLIOS	93
TABLE 5-2: SIX CASES OF CONSIDERED TEMPORAL GRANULARITIES	94
TABLE 5-3: BREAKDOWN OF OPERATING COSTS, RESERVE PROCUREMENT (RP), AND RESERVE ACTIVATION (RA)	95
TABLE 6-1: SUMMARY OF APPROACHES IN RELEVANT WORK. AREAS IN RED ARE IMPROVED UPON IN THIS WORK	110
TABLE 6-2: NOMENCLATURE	112
TABLE 6-3: INSTALLED CAPACITIES FOR THE C1 AND C2 CASE STUDIES	117
TABLE 6-4: NET TRANSFER CAPACITIES FOR THE C1 AND C2 CASE STUDIES	117
TABLE 6-5: TOTAL SYSTEM COST FOR THE DAY-AHEAD STAGE OF THE C1 AND C2 CASE STUDIES IN MILLIONS OF EUROS	118
TABLE 6-6: TECHNICAL AND ECONOMIC PARAMETERS FOR CONVENTIONAL DISPATCHABLE TECHNOLOGIES FOR C1 AND C2	126
TABLE 7-1: AVERAGE CONGESTION SEVERITY (WHEN THE CONGESTION IS NON-ZERO) AND TOTAL NUMBER OF CONGESTED CBCOS	S PER
BORDER ACROSS 24 GRID SCENARIOS.	137
TABLE 7-2: COMPARISON OF CONGESTION MANAGEMENT COSTS AND REDISPATCH VOLUMES ACROSS 24 GRID SCENARIOS WITH	AND
WITHOUT THE USE OF PSTS	138
TABLE 7-3: TOP 9 (CUT-OFF AT MI=600) BRANCHES ACCORDING TO THE MULTIPLIER INDICATORS (THE LETTERS A-I IN PARENTHESES S	ERVE
AS IDENTIFIERS OF LOCATIONS TO BE COMPARED WITH CF RESULTS IN TABLE 7.4	139
TABLE 7-4: TOP 8 (CUT-OFF AT CF=5000) BRANCHES ACCORDING TO THE CONGESTION FACTORS. (THE LETTERS IN PARENTHESES SERV	VE AS
IDENTIFIERS OF LOCATIONS TO BE COMPARED WITH MI RESULTS IN TABLE 7.3)	141
TABLE 8-1: COSTS OF REMEDIAL ACTIONS AND SAVINGS AS COMPARED TO THEIR REFERENCE SCENARIO	157
TABLE 8-2: HHI AND NORMALIZED HHI FOR BOTH ALTERNATIVE SCENARIOS	159
TABLE 8-3: ZONAL COSTS, SAVINGS AND INVESTMENT SHARES	163
TABLE 9-1: OVERVIEW OF SYSTEM DATA AND INSTALLED CAPACITIES	180
TABLE 9-2: OVERVIEW OF CASES	182
TABLE 9-3: COMPARISON OF AGGREGATED COSTS [M€] FOR THE DIFFERENT MARKETS	183
TABLE 9-4: COMPARISON OF AVERAGE RATIO OFFERED SUPPLY/DEMAND FOR THE DIFFERENT MARKETS	184
TABLE 9-5: OVERVIEW OF RELEVANT COMMODITY PRICES [6],[47]	190
TABLE 9-6: OVERVIEW OF RELEVANT TECHNICAL AND ECONOMIC PARAMETERS [48], ASSUMED TO BE THE SAME FOR BOTH SCENA	RIOS
	190
TABLE 10-1 PLANT PORTFOLIO - STEADY EVOLUTION SCENARIO, LOW CARBON LIVING SCENARIO AND CORE INVESTMENT MODEL	193
TABLE 10-2 RESERVE SCENARIOS	195
TABLE 10-3 PLANT CHARACTERISTICS	199
TABLE 11-1: LOCATION AND MERIT ORDER OF PRODUCERS PARTICIPATING IN THE MARKET	217
TABLE 11-2: LOCATION AND RELATIVE SIZE OF DEMANDS PARTICIPATING IN THE MARKET	218
TABLE 11-3: MARKET INDEXES FOR DIFFERENT ESS SCENARIOS WITHOUT NETWORK CONGESTION	225
TABLE 11-4: MARKET INDEXES FOR DIFFERENT ESS SCENARIOS WITH NETWORK CONGESTION	226
TABLE 11-5: OPERATING PARAMETERS OF PRODUCERS PARTICIPATING IN THE MARKET	226
TABLE 11-6: PROFITS OF EXAMINED STRATEGIC PRODUCERS UNDER DIFFERENT BIDDING MODELS	227
TABLE 11-7: MARKET OUTCOME FOR PRODUCER 5 UNDR COMPETITIVE AND STRATEGIC BEHAVIOUR IN TERMS OF NO-LOAD COST	228



ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

aFRR	Automatic Frequency Restoration Reserves
BE	Balancing Energy
СО	Critical Outage
CWE	Central Western European
CZC	Cross-Zonal Capacity
DAM	Day-Ahead Market
DER	Distributed Energy Resource
DSO	Distribution System Operator
DUDI	Demand Utility Deviation Index
EC	European Commission
ED	Economic Dispatch
ENS	Energy Not Served
ENTSO-E	European Network of Transmission System Operators for Electricity
ERCOT	Electric Reliability Council of Texas
ESS	Energy Storage System
EU	European Union
FU-SYSFLFX	Pan-European System with an efficient coordinated use of flexibilities for the integration of a large share of Renewable
EO STOLEX	Energy Sources (RES)
FCR	Frequency Containtment Reserves
FFR	Fast Frequency Response
FRR	Frequency Restoration Reserves
GPDI	Generation Profit Deviation Index
ККТ	Karush-Kuhn-Tucker
LL	Lower Level
LMP	Locational Marginal Price
LODF	line outage distribution factors
mFRR	Manual Frequency Restoration Reserves
MII	Market Inefficiency Index
MILP	Mixed-Integer Linear Program
MISO	Midcontinent Independent System Operator
MPEC	Mathematical Program with Equilibrium Constraints
MRA	Multilateral Remedial Action
NYISO	New York Independent System Operator
OCGT	Open Cycle Gas Turbine
PJM	Pennsylvania, Jersey, Maryland Power Pool
PST	Phase-Shifting Transformer
PV	Photo-Voltaic pannels
PV	Photovoltaic, relating to solar photovoltaic energy sources
RA	Remedial action
RD	Redispatch
RDCT	Redispatch and Counter Trading
RES	Renewable Energy Sources
RPCD	Reserve Procurement Contract Duration
RPF	Reserve Procurement Frequency



RR	Replacement Reserves
RSF	Reserve Sizing Frequency
RSR	Reserve Sizing Resolution
SNSP	System Non-Synchrnous Penetration
SOGL	System Operation Guideline
TSO	Transmission System Operator
UC	Unit Commitment
UCTE	Union for the Coordination of Transmission of Electricity
UL	Upper Level
vRES	Variable Renewable Energy Sources
WP	Work Package
ХВ	Cross-border
XBR	Cross-Border Redispatch



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

With the advent of very high levels of variable renewable generation, as well as a move to more decentralised and distributed power electronics-interfaced technologies, power systems will face significant technical and financial challenges. Within the EU-SysFlex project, these challenges have been studied in the context of installed capacities of renewables that succeed in meeting up to and over 50% of the total annual electricity demand. In that context, a number of key technical scarcities arise: the need for system services increases, the conventional supply of system services decreases, and network constraints become more urgent, both at the transmission and distribution level. In order to maintain the security and stability of the power system, new and innovative system services may be required, new service providers need to have a route to market, and novel remuneration mechanisms and innovative market designs have to be explored.

Work Package 3 of the EU-SysFlex project focused on the analysis of market design and regulatory options for innovative system services that can help address the challenges associated with the integration of very high levels of variable renewable generation. Within the work package, Task 3.4 focused on complementing the conceptual market designs coming out of Task 3.2 with advanced power system and market modelling studies, considering both the long-term (investment) and short-term (operational) impacts of these designs on the pan-European power system. This allowed to analyse how different designs played out across different operational timeframes (seconds, minutes, hours) and different power system configurations (distribution vs. transmission level, isolated vs. interconnected, lightly-loaded vs. congested grids, etc.).

This report provides an overview of the outcomes from the different quantitative and model-based analyses of specific market or regulatory design options for a cost-efficient provision of system services in high-RES electricity systems. Several key messages come to the fore across the different research efforts. First, the research in this report shows that improvements in market design can facilitate the sustainability transition. Second, it provides evidence of specific ways that regulation and market design can do so. The implementation of shorter-term, higher resolution ancillary service markets reduces the cost of ensuring system reliability, among other things by enabling the participation of nonconventional providers such as demand response and variables renewables. Additionally, cross-border coordination in both markets and system management (e.g., cross-border congestion management) further reduces the cost of ensuring system reliability. Third, the research calls attention to key challenges for regulation and market design. New market power effects associated with new service providers and technical constraints need to be understood in more detail. In addition, system service markets have to provide sufficiently stable investment signals such that the required flexibility will be developed. Finally, all research indicates that these effects become increasingly significant as renewable shares grow. This clearly points to the importance of action being taken sooner rather than later.

The following sections of the executive summary present the main findings and conclusions of all research efforts performed within Task 3.4. The full analyses are presented in the different chapters of this report:



- Chapter 3: Enhancing TSO-DSO integration to facilitate market access for distributed energy resources
- Chapter 4: Interdependence of energy and reserve markets in high-RES systems
- Chapter 5: On the temporal granularity of joint energy-reserve markets in a high-RES systems
- Chapter 6: Benefits of regional coordination of balancing capacity markets in future European power markets
- **Chapter 7**: Pre-selection of the optimal siting of phase-shifting transformers based on an optimization problem solved within a coordinated cross-border congestion management process
- Chapter 8: Defining the TSO's investment shares for PSTs used for coordinated redispatch
- Chapter 9: Increasing technology neutrality in service markets in power systems with high RES shares
- Chapter 10: Analysis of long-term investment signals provided by ancillary services markets
- Chapter 11: Impacts of flexibility and unit commitment characteristics on market power effects

ENHANCING TSO-DSO INTEGRATION TO FACILITATE MARKET ACCESS FOR DISTRIBUTED ENERGY RESOURCES

The role of distribution system operators (DSOs) needs to evolve to maximise the use of Distributed Energy Resources (DER) services not only for local distribution network management but also for the benefit to the wider transmission system. Operational challenges arise as the use of DER by different operators may trigger conflicts between serving the local or national or regional objectives. It indicates that stronger TSO-DSO coordination is required to maximise the synergy of using distributed resources to provide multiple services. In this context, the work investigates two coordination approaches, i.e. incremental and whole-system technical and commercial frameworks to bridge and enhance the TSO-DSO's integration while enabling the maximum use of DER and stimulating competition in the provision of transmission services by the local DER and transmission connected generators on a level of playing field. A range of case studies was performed to analyse the performances of the two approaches and the drivers for the optimal solution.

First, the incremental coordination approach is based on the principle that DSOs have the priority to use DER services to solve distribution network problems and then facilitate the remaining capacity of DER services to be offered to the wholesale electricity markets (both energy and ancillary services). DSOs ensure that the utilisation of the offered capacity does not violate distribution network constraints. In this context, the concept of Virtual Power Plant (VPP) is used to aggregate the capacity and energy that can be harnessed from DERs while ensuring secured distribution network operation. Local electricity (energy and ancillary service) markets can be developed to promote competition between local resources to stimulate cost-efficient operation.

The studies demonstrate that the use of smart distribution grid technologies (e.g. wide area system voltage optimisation) is vital to allow: (i) minimum use of the resources for solving distribution problems and therefore, it minimises not only the distribution's operation cost but also the contracted capacity needed, and (ii) optimal access for the remaining DER capacity to be used for transmission and balancing services at the national level. In addition



to the capacity provided by DERs, distribution network assets can also be used to provide services to transmission¹. By controlling distributed reactive compensation, and at some extent, the active and reactive power losses at distribution, the power flows at the TSO and DSO coupling points can be adjusted to meet the national electricity system requirements.

The second approach is to optimise the use of DER capacities for TSO and DSOs simultaneously. In principle, this optimises all connected plants at transmission and distribution concurrently. From the optimality point of view, this approach is the ideal one; however, it is very challenging for the computation and for the control. The second approach leads to the need of having centralised electricity markets for all plants (including DERs)² and centralised system operation. It requires a central entity that integrates the TSO and DSOs system operation fully in order to optimise the whole system and therefore, it may not be compatible with the current operational structure where a TSO focuses on the national transmission system operation while DSOs operate distribution networks.

The performance differences between the first and the second approach can be minimised if the allocation of DERs can be corrected to consider both transmission and distribution requirements during real-time. This can be facilitated if the market operation is close to real-time (e.g. 15 - 30 mins ahead) and the distribution network operation is quite flexible.

INTERDEPENDENCE OF ENERGY AND RESERVE MARKETS IN HIGH-RES SYSTEMS

Energy and reserve markets are linked through the technical constraints of reserve providers, e.g. generation limits of power plants. The use of capacity for reserves (generation, load or storage capacity) constrains the use of that same capacity in the energy market, and vice versa.

Two different market designs are commonly used to organize energy and reserve markets: joint clearing and sequential clearing. In joint markets, energy and reserves clear simultaneously. Interdependencies between both are implicitly accounted for. Joint markets are based on a unit commitment style optimization that dispatches energy and reserves on unit level. Examples of joint markets are the US competitive markets such as PJM, CAISO, ERCOT, MISO and NYISO. In sequential markets, energy and reserves clear sequentially without implicitly accounting for interdependencies. Sequential markets are based on a simple quantity-price optimization that dispatches energy and reserves at portfolio level. Market participants then schedule their units, accounting for interdependencies between energy and reserves. The European Integrated Energy Market is based on sequential market clearing.

¹ Technically, as shown as by the studies, the distribution network assets can be used to support transmission networks. This contribution should be recognised so the assets can be fully utilised. The remuneration mechanism for the use of these assets is out of the scope of the work; this study can be used to trigger further discussions on how the benefits of these assets can be fully integrated in the policy and commercial framework.

² The centralised electricity market is a single market place where all providers (small and large) and the users are met. This requires both transmission and distribution models to be considered during the market clearing process to maximise the synergy and prevent conflicts of using DERs for both transmission and distribution needs.



The performance of a sequential and a joint energy-reserve market design is analysed for a realistic and large-scale case study of the Central Western European electricity system and for scenarios with different levels of intermittent renewables. To this end, a detailed unit commitment model is set up that simulates the day-ahead scheduling of energy and reserves, followed by a real-time activation of reserves. The performance is analysed in terms of the total operational system costs. The operational system costs are evaluated for a simulation of a full year and after the real-time reserve activation (i.e., both the cost of reserve allocation and activation is considered).

The cost surplus of sequential vs. joint market clearing increases with increasing levels of wind and solar PV, up to 2.0-2.5% of total operational system cost at 30-35% wind and solar PV. The cost difference also increases in absolute terms, from ξ 58M at 7% share wind and solar PV (on a total operational system cost of ξ 47.5B) to ξ 535M at 33% share wind and solar PV (on a total operational system cost of ξ 23.0B) for a one-year simulation of the CWE region. However, this cost difference between a joint and sequential design can be significantly reduced with decreasing reserve costs through increased participation of flexible load and renewables.

Joint energy-reserve markets are unlikely to become the target market design in a European context in the shortterm or near future. However, based on the quantitative results, three implications for the sequential energy and reserve markets in Europe can be derived. First, the additional costs of sequential reserve scheduling is driven by the technical inflexibilities and limitations of conventional power plants (e.g. minimum up/down times). Flexible load and renewables are more flexible in providing reserves, at least from a purely technical perspective. Therefore, reserve market design should be opened up for reserve provision by renewables and flexible load. This could entail a broad set of actions, such as allowing load aggregators to bid in reserve markets or reducing contract durations to enable reserve provision by intermittent generation. Second, as the required level of reserves is assumed in this analysis to increase with the share of wind and solar PV, the additional cost of a sequential market design increases as well. This effect can be partially offset by improving the dimensioning of reserves by, for instance, dynamic reserves and more short term reserve sizing. As such, the need for reserves can be determined more accurately and less reserves need to be scheduled. Third, it is illustrated that the additional cost of sequential clearing has a more than linear relation with the level of wind and solar PV. In other words, the cost difference becomes larger with increasing wind and solar PV, and at an increasing rate. This implies that the above implications are preferably taken into account sooner than later. The analysis shows clearly that there is a cost of not acting or acting late.

ON THE TEMPORAL GRANULARITY OF JOINT ENERGY-RESERVE MARKETS IN A HIGH-RES SYSTEM

Transmission system operators (TSOs) procure flexibility in the form of balancing capacity/operating reserves. The temporal granularity of these markets for balancing capacity/reserves can be characterized by the frequency of sizing reserve requirements and the corresponding resolution, and the frequency and resolution at which the





required reserves are procured. This is illustrated in the Figure below.

In today's European reserve markets, reserves (i.e., FCR, FRR and RR) are typically sized and procured on yearly, monthly, weekly or daily basis. Moreover, the contract duration for reserve products is, in some countries, e.g., Belgium and The Netherlands, restricted to weekly or monthly products. However, a higher temporal resolution (e.g., daily sizing and procurement of hourly products) has the potential to lower the cost of reserves.

The potential benefits to cost-efficiency (and hence welfare) and reserve market liquidity of adopting increasingly more dynamic temporal granularities of reserve markets are quantified for a case study of the Belgium electricity system and for the Energy Transition and Renewable Ambition EU-SysFlex scenarios. Quantifications are based on a unit commitment and economic dispatch (UC) model that is designed to simulate the impact of the temporal granularity of reserve markets. Concretely, we analyze the impact of the following four considered temporal aspects of reserve markets:

- 1. The reserve sizing frequency (RSF) specifies how regularly reserves are sized
- 2. The reserve sizing resolution (RSR) sets the duration of blocks
- 3. The reserve procurement frequency (RPF) sets how regularly reserves are procured
- 4. **The reserve procurement contract duration** (RPCD) specifies the resolution of reserve products, being allocated at unit level (i.e., length of the procurement blocks)

First, more frequent reserve sizing and procurement will allow employing improved forecasts as the lead time between forecast creation and actual realization decreases. Hence, the real-time operating reserve requirements are reduced, which could yield operating cost savings while maintaining the system's security. Second, increasing the temporal resolution of reserve markets allows more cost-efficient, dynamic sizing of reserves. Third, a short contract duration allows accounting for the time-dependent availability of reserve providers (particularly important for intermittent sources such as wind and solar PV, and certain types of responsive load), as well as the time-dependent opportunity cost of offering capacity in reserve markets (particularly relevant for thermal generators).



Results of the two realistic case studies revealed that the total operating cost savings reach 1.5% to 1.8% when moving from a very conservative (i.e., sizing well in advance, daily procurement and daily reserve contracts) to a highly dynamic (i.e., sizing and procurement close to real-time with quarter-hourly resolution) joint energy-reserve and balancing market. Equally, adopting higher temporal granularities mitigated reserve market scarcity. More frequent reserve sizing with a higher reserve requirement resolution resulted in total cost-savings of 0.75-1.10%. Reducing the reserve procurement contract duration and procuring reserve capacity more frequently yielded cost savings of 0.75% and facilitated the integration of intermittent renewables in reserve markets. From a practical viewpoint, more frequent reserve sizing and procurement could pose challenges related to market operation. However, it is debatable whether they weigh up to the considerable benefits of the market design changes investigated in this work.

The policy implication of this work is clear: implement shorter term, higher resolution reserve markets. Our work supports recommendations put forward in Article 32 of Commission Regulation (EU) 2017/2195, encouraging reserve procurement on a short-term basis (close to delivery and with high-resolution products) to the extent possible and where economically efficient.

BENEFITS OF REGIONAL COORDINATION OF BALANCING CAPACITY MARKETS IN FUTURE EUROPEAN ELECTRICITY MARKETS

Driven by concerns regarding market concentration in balancing markets and the expected increase of less predictable generation from variable renewable energy sources, the importance of extending market integration to realize cross-border balancing is growing. Recent European regulation (cfr. *Regulation (EU) 2019/943 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 June 2019 on the internal market for electricity (recast)*) recognizes there is a need to foster market integration to allow transmission system operators (TSOs) to procure and use balancing capacity in a cost-effective and market-based manner.

Different levels of balancing market integration can be distinguished, with increasing levels of coordination (where each level implies an additional element of coordination to the previous level):

- (1) Coordination of the real-time activation of balancing energy through:
 - a. Imbalance netting: TSOs exchange opposing imbalances before using balancing energy (BE).
 - b. Using a common merit order list: TSOs use a common merit order list of BE bids such that BE is provided at the lowest cost, which implies the exchange of BE between zones.
- (2) **Coordination of the procurement/contracting/allocation of balancing capacity** through the exchange of balancing capacity (BC), which implies the contracting of BC located in different control zones.
- (3) **Coordination of the sizing of balancing capacity requirements** through the sizing of BC for a certain region (spanning multiple control zones) and the sharing of BC within that region (i.e. multiple TSOs rely on the same BC for meeting their local BC requirements).



Coordinating the procurement and sizing of BC is more complex than the coordination of the activation of BE. Since the coordination of the activation of BE happens in real-time, the status of the network is known, and the remaining cross-zonal capacity (CZC) can be used for the exchange of BE. In contrast, as procuring BC happens before realtime, the exact state of the network is not known. Hence, to ensure the real-time deliverability of BC located in a different zone, it needs to be guaranteed that the required CZC will be effectively available.

This requirement of reserving CZC for BC invites an investigation of the potential benefits of using CZC for exchanging or sharing BC in addition to using it for the trade of electricity on day-ahead energy markets. These benefits were assessed for case studies based on the Central-Western European system with power system portfolios based on the EU-SysFlex Scenarios: Energy Transition and Renewable Ambition. A model was developed with detailed technical constraints to simulate the co-optimized allocation process of CZC for BC exchange and sharing in a joint day-ahead energy and BC market clearing. The activation of BE in real-time is assumed to be fully coordinated. BC exchange and sharing were modelled following the mechanisms outlined in ENTSO-E's 2019 All TSOs' proposal on this subject.

Hourly simulations results for a week-long period illustrate how cross-border coordination of BC markets can lead to a more cost-efficient power system operation. First, the provision of BC itself is more efficient. When cheaper BC is available in neighbouring control zones, BC exchange allows for the import of that capacity (and vice versa). This effect is only partially captured in this work, as a clustered unit commitment approach is employed, which trades off significant plant-level detail (modelling clusters of a technology rather than individual units) for increased computational performance. However, it is expected to be less relevant for studies looking 10 or more years ahead.

Second, cross-border coordination enables increased generation from less flexible capacity, both "slow" conventional and renewable technologies, which is often cheaper. This happens because BC exchange allows to import flexibility from other control areas, thus reducing the technical constraints on online capacity within a control area. This can free up low-marginal cost capacity initially (partly) allocated to provide BC, allow increased contributions from low-marginal cost, low-flexibility capacity, and even reduce curtailment at times of high renewable output. As the stringency of flexibility requirements varies in time and place, different control areas can benefit from these effects at different times. The benefits of a coordinated approach are greater as the share of renewables is higher.

Third, cross-border coordination allows to reduce the overall need for BC. This has the potential to drive the most significant cost savings. On the one hand, it allows for a reinforced version of the second effect described here, i.e. lowering the technical constraints on the power system portfolios, thus allowing for more low-marginal cost capacity to be used for electricity generation. On the other hand, and probably more significantly, it allows to simply build less "back-up capacity". Unfortunately, this effect was not captured clearly here, as the EU-SysFlex scenarios have quite a lot of flexible capacity. Nevertheless, studying the trade-off between building more back-up capacity vs. building less but sharing more of it between control areas through reinforced cross-border connections is a key



task for researchers working to understand the benefits of cross-border BC coordination; especially given that also here those benefits are anticipated to be greater for higher shares of renewables.

PRE-SELECTION OF THE OPTIMAL SITING OF PHASE-SHIFTING TRANSFORMERS BASED ON AN OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM SOLVED WITHIN A COORDINATED CROSS-BORDER CONGESTION MANAGEMENT PROCESS & DEFINING THE TSO'S INVESTMENT SHARES FOR PSTS USED FOR COORDINATED REDISPATCH

The cross-border problems related to congestion management in the European synchronous grid are solved by transmission system operators (TSOs). One of the reasons of the cross-border congestion management originates from the discrepancies between the market solution and physical flows, causing, in particular, the occurrence of unscheduled cross-border flows. The TSOs have a defined protocol of actions in order to solve those congestions, however this process is far from being automatic – it involves expert-based decision making and direct communication between the dispatch offices of particular TSOs.

Moreover, the aforementioned protocols provide a prioritization of different actions that the TSO can perform. First, TSOs would try to solve those internal problems by costless remedial actions such as changing the PST tap settings. Afterwards, if the problem persisted, the TSO would consider applying the so-called XBR (Cross-Border Redispatch), that is, coordinated redispatch of generators on both sides of the cross-border line at which the congestion occurred. However, redispatch capabilities of generators are limited, and in some situations it is necessary to involve other TSO(s) to apply MRA (Multilateral Remedial Actions), which include redispatching of generators operated by TSOs further from the congested border. The whole process is driven similarly to XBR nonetheless involving more than two TSOs. Obviously, redispatching in the form of XBR and/or MRA is costly and currently in Europe there is no universal rule governing the XBR and MRA cost-sharing between TSOs – the costs are covered on the basis of bilateral and multilateral agreements, and although TSOs have started to develop a common framework of cost-sharing, the process is far from being finalized.

The limitations of the current procedure are associated with the fact that the cross-border remedial actions are not coordinated across a wider area. For example, changing PSTs tap settings to counteract one cross-border congestion can have negative influence on congestions governed by other TSOs. Moreover, applying XBR/MRA measures individually by each TSO to counteract each congestion can be very costly. Instead, seeking an effective direction of redispatching between many TSOs could reduce the total cost of remedial actions in the whole coordinated area.

To this day, the TSOs do not operate any coordination tool that would allow them to perform the necessary remedial actions for the whole European synchronous area at once and in the most effective way. However, the most effective remedial actions could be based on redispatching the generation in a country different than the ones having congestion problems. From the global welfare point of view, it is a good solution. Nevertheless, from the individual TSO's point of view, it might not be justified if their costly redispatching is used to counteract a congestion in other TSO's region. Thus, a global coordination of remedial actions cannot be effective without accompanying



fair rules of splitting their costs – in other words, the cost-sharing methodology must incentivize TSOs to be involved in the global cost optimization.

As a result, the EU is establishing the required mechanisms that could allow designing coordinated remedial actions, as defined in the Article 76 of Commission Regulation (EU) 2017/1485 of 2 August 2017 establishing a guideline on electricity transmission system operation (Official Journal of the European Union L 220/1) and Article 35 of Commission Regulation (EU) 2015/1222 of 24 July 2015 establishing a guideline on capacity allocation and congestion management (Official Journal of the European Union L 197/24). Those mechanism are part of the task related to the RCC role.

The coordination of the cross-border remedial actions has been implemented in the form of an optimization problem and applied to power system models prepared within EU-SysFlex. The coordination tool proves the feasibility and potential for cross-border congestion management. Therefore, in this new framework, TSOs may examine increasing the ability to use more costless remedial actions, in particular by installing new PSTs – this idea is the main research focus of this topic.

Currently, PST investment decisions are supported by cost-benefit analyses, individually per PST candidate. However, the selection of candidates for further analysis is usually expert-based. On the other hand, applying the cross-border coordination optimization problem to analyse long-term scenarios provides valuable information like the potential of particular locations for reducing the overall cost of the congestion management with the means of a PST. The work proposes two methods of such PST candidates identification, namely: the *multiplier indicator* and the *congestion factor*. Both are based on the information extracted from dual variables of the optimization problem and the level of overloads, respectively, to suggest the identification and ranking of the locations for the PST investments.

A cost-sharing methodology was implemented within this EU-SysFlex task, along the coordinated cross-border optimization. The methodology is based on the "polluter-pays" principle, which is accepted among TSOs in Europe. This principle allows penalising TSOs' control areas responsible for causing the congestions, identified by performing the load flow decomposition, in this case based on the Power Flow Colouring methodology. In conclusion, the application of cost-sharing methods to long-term cost-benefit analyses of potential investments shows several interesting indicators for TSOs. Theoretically, the PST or other new investment can bring more savings to some distant zones than to the control area in which the investment is located. Various indicators have been proposed to open the discussion about joint investments: How should the investment cost be divided between TSOs? Are the savings from redispatch great enough to compensate the investment cost?

INCREASING TECHNOLOGY NEUTRALITY IN SERVICE MARKETS IN POWER SYSTEMS WITH HIGH RES SHARES

This study focuses on the challenges to accommodate high shares of RES while maintaining frequency stability of the power grid. One of the ways to tackle the frequency stability issue is through enhanced market design. In particular, dealing with more frequent and larger deviations from the standard frequency implies that greater levels



of ancillary services associated with balancing demand and supply across all time horizons will be required. Unfortunately, wind and solar generators only contribute in a limited way to ancillary services in many countries, which limits further the system's ability to accommodate RES. However, an increasing body of literature shows that the participation of RES in ancillary services is technically feasible, although with some restrictions to guarantee security and stability. This shows that there is a gap between, on the one hand, the technical potential of technologies, which refers to the technical ability to deliver system services, and, on the other hand, the market potential, which translates the technical potential into economic value.

In this specific study, we looked at how the shortening of the procurement cycle of mFRR influences the participation of wind technology in the mFRR, and by consequence, the day-ahead market. The study complements Chapter 5 of this deliverable (i.e., "On the temporal granularity of joint energy-reserve markets in a high-RES system"). More specifically, while Chapter 5 focused on and confirmed the technical potential of RES to participate in service markets, our study looked at how this technical potential can be translated into market potential. More specifically, twelve scenarios were investigated depending on the selection of (i) the two EU-SysFlex scenarios (Energy Transition and Renewable Ambition), (ii) the frequency of mFRR procurement (daily, weekly, monthly), and (iii) the future need for mFRR as defined by the Belgian TSO, Elia (low and high need, both for mFRR up and mFRR down). This impact was then analysed by comparing, amongst others, the aggregated cost and the average offered supply/demand for the different markets (i.e., day-ahead, mFRR up and mFRR down). We looked at the simulation results from a system's as well as a technologies perspective.

To find an answer to our research question, a sequential market simulation tool was developed. The backbone of the simulation is the capturing of the market time sequence and consequently mapping the different decisions taken by the market participants as well as market operators. The main actors are the simulator, market operator and market participant. While the latter two are also actors in reality, the simulator is virtually in control of the execution of the event calendar and the flow of information. Another key element of the market simulator is a blackboard for market information. It is put in place to control the flow of information among individual market participants and market operators. This is to define specific scenarios linked to sharing information. To make the bidding strategies more realistic, forecasting relevant information for the decision-making is incorporated in the simulation. At the moment, this is linked to forecasting time series for prices and availability of generation units including the underlying weather data.





The results indicate that, from a system's perspective, large cost savings can only be achieved by reducing the procurement cycle to daily auctions; changing from monthly to weekly auctions only reduces the cost in a limited way. When it comes to the technologies perspective, the results show a very strong increase of offered capacities from wind and solar towards the daily procurement. Offered capacities from solar only appear with daily procurement. There are also seasonal effects, most pronounced for solar and onshore wind. Finally, there is also an impact of procurement cycle on the offered prices. As a consequence of the bidding strategy and necessity of having reduced capacity available for the DAM (in case of mFRR up), there is a difference in prices for upwards and downwards reserves. For mFRR down, only a strong difference in case of daily procurement can be observed, while for mFRR up, a shift towards cheaper prices and an increase in price diversity is observed. The obtained results motivate some future work to improve the simulation and gain additional insights.

ANALYSIS OF LONG-TERM INVESTMENT SIGNALS PROVIDED BY ANCILLARY SERVICES MARKETS

New system services, required for efficient operation of systems with high shares of variable renewable generation, will change the make up of future generation portfolios. Including these new system services within an investment model indicates a shift towards more flexible technologies. However, it is important that clear market signals exist for investors and conventional plant owners, in order to either commission new plant or retrofit existing generating units. Effective markets for new system services will create such signals, and will change the shape of long-term generation investments.

While unit commitment and economic dispatch models have evolved to capture variability and uncertainty impacts associated with high levels of variable renewable generation, traditional planning models typically do not incorporate sufficient temporal and operational detail to fully capture the real-time requirements for such systems. Consequently, the value of flexible technologies and energy limited resources is often not fully captured. A generic energy network optimisation tool, Backbone, is capable of performing both investment and operational optimisation, and enables analysis at sufficient temporal and operational detail, in order to capture the flexibility requirements of systems with high non-synchronous generation shares, while balancing model complexity against computational effort. A range of flexibility service requirements are explicitly modelled, including ramping products and fast frequency response, and the impact on investment decisions, and the operation of successful technologies,



are explored for a system and a range of scenarios with associated technical scarcities. The analysis is completed for two core scenarios with varying degrees of variable RES generation, Steady Evolution and Low Carbon Living.

The results demonstrate how the inclusion of new (needed and valued) system services alter the optimum plant portfolio, and how new system services markets can send clear long-term signals to investors. In the absence of such markets, sub-optimal portfolios will be obtained, which can increase operating costs and CO2 emissions with increased renewable energy curtailment due to insufficient flexibility at certain times.

It is interesting to note that the additional reserve products have a much greater impact on the portfolios (and operating costs and emissions) in the Steady Evolution scenario over the Low Carbon Living scenario, which has much higher shares of variable renewable generation. When shares of renewable generation are sufficiently high, large investments in flexible technologies, such as batteries, are already justified, considering energy only markets, which indicates that incentivising suitable levels of flexible technology investments may be more crucial in the medium-term transition period in Ireland (~50% variable renewable generation), rather than for long-term, very high renewables scenarios. The largest changes to investment decisions for the Low Carbon Living scenario occur when a ramping product is included, as the product requirements are tied to wind levels. Greater investment in OCGTs occur, which have relatively low capital cost and can ramp from an off-line state, such that there is significant system value in procuring large reserve volumes from them, particularly if low plant utilisation.

For future (high renewables) systems, it is essential that adequate investment in flexible technologies are incentivised through strong investment signals via stable markets for the new system services. Marginal prices for both energy and system services are dependent on many factors, including fuel prices, interconnection capacity, installed capacity and capacity factors of variable renewables, and, indeed, competing sources of flexibility, all of which are associated with a high degree of uncertainty. While a fast product such as fast frequency reserve is of high value, the quantities required are small (compared to the energy market) and market saturation is a risk. Markets for such services require careful design, and relying on marginal cost pricing may not provide sufficient certainty for investors.

IMPACTS OF FLEXIBILITY AND UNIT COMMITMENT CHARACTERISTICS ON MARKET POWER EFFECTS

After the deregulation of the European electricity industry, electricity markets are characterised by imperfect competition, where players owning a large share of the market or located strategically in the network can behave strategically and manipulate the electricity prices in order to increase their profits. This market power exercise results in increased price levels and loss of social welfare. In this context, we need to move away from traditional centralized system operation models which have been assuming perfectly competitive behaviour, towards new models which can capture the strategic behaviour of multiple self-interested market players and identify likely market outcomes.

The existing literature on this area exhibits two limitations which are particularly important in the context of this project. First of all, the developed market models cannot investigate the impacts of flexible demand and energy



storage as they are inherently unable to capture their time-coupling operating characteristics. This limitation is particularly important, given that the role of these flexible resources is extremely valuable for the cost-effective integration of renewable generation. Secondly, the developed market models cannot investigate the impact of the unit commitment (UC) characteristics of the producers on their strategic bidding decisions, as they are inherently unable to include binary UC decision variables in their representation of the market clearing process. This limitation is particularly important in the European market setting which moves towards complex bidding mechanisms.

Therefore, the objective of this particular topic lies in addressing these two limitations of the existing relevant literature through an advanced market model. This model adopts the basic methodological framework of the existing literature, namely bi-level optimisation founded on game-theoretic principles, since it captures the interaction between the strategic bidding decisions of self-interested players (modelled in the upper level) and the competitive clearing of the electricity market (modelled in the lower level). However, this model also captures the time-coupling operating characteristics of flexible demand and energy storage as well as the non-convex UC characteristics of the generation side. In order to address the fundamental mathematical challenge associated with these non-convex characteristics, our work employs a novel analytical approach recently proposed by the authors, which is based on the relaxation and primal-dual reformulation of the original, non-convex lower level problem and the penalization of the associated duality gap.

By employing this advanced model in a number of case studies, this work aims to address two research questions, which are relevant to the focus of this project: a) what is the impact of flexible demand and energy storage on market efficiency and b) what is the impact of considering the complex unit commitment characteristics on the strategic bidding decisions of electricity producers.

Regarding the first question, the results have demonstrated that the introduction of demand flexibility and energy storage drives a flattening effect on the price increments created by the exercise of market power: these increments are reduced at peak periods and are increased at off-peak periods. However, the former reduction is significantly higher than the latter increase, resulting in an overall reduction of market power and thus higher market efficiency. Regarding energy storage, this beneficial impact is reduced when large storage capacity is owned by individual market players, since these players can exercise market power through capacity withholding in order to maintain the market price differential between peak and off-peak periods at higher levels and make higher profits.

When the underlying network is congested, this impact is location-specific; introduction of demand flexibility and energy storage at a particular location deteriorates the market power potential of local producers and improves the market outcome for the local consumers. Overall, the impact of demand flexibility and energy storage on market efficiency is positive irrespectively of their location; however, this positive impact is higher when they are located in areas with more expensive generation and higher demand.

Regarding the second question, the results have demonstrated that the consideration of the complex unit commitment characteristics results in more profitable bidding decisions for strategic producers than state-of-the-



art approaches which neglect them. Furthermore, producers can exercise market power and increase their profits by misreporting non-convex operating characteristics (such as the no-load cost examined in this work), a strategic potential that cannot be explored with state-of-the-art approaches and could be very interesting for both strategic players and market regulators.



1. INTRODUCTION TO TASK 3.4

1.1 CONTEXT

With the advent of very high levels of variable renewable generation, as well as a move to more decentralised and distributed power electronic interfaced technologies, there are likely to be significant challenges that need to be overcome in relation to the technical, as well as the financial, characteristics of power systems. In the context of the EU-SysFlex project, high levels of renewable generation are defined as being installed capacities of renewables that succeed in meeting at least 50% of the total annual electricity demand. Transitioning from power systems which have traditionally been dominated by large controllable synchronous generation to systems with high levels of variable, limitedly predictable and non-synchronous renewable generation has been shown to result in technical as well as economic challenges for balancing and operating power systems safely and reliably.

Deliverable 2.1 of the EU-SysFlex project has performed a comprehensive review of the literature and identified a number of key technical scarcities associated with integration of variable, limitedly predictable and non-synchronous generation and the associated displacement of conventional synchronous generation. These scarcities, if not mitigated, may impact the security and stability of the power system of the future.

- The advent of non-synchronous renewable generation will result in a need for extra system services, such as operating reserve capabilities, to ensure there will be sufficient frequency control capabilities across multiple time frames
- 2. The displacement of conventional technologies means that the typical suppliers of these system services will decrease. This poses challenges related to system stability, reactive power control, system restoration capabilities (e.g., black start services) and system adequacy. It further implies the need to open system service supply to, and develop related provision capabilities for, non-conventional technologies.
- 3. The transition to power systems with high levels of renewable generation results in high levels of variable generation, both at the transmission level, but also embedded in distribution networks. The variability and limitedly predictability of renewable generation can be partially mitigated by geographical smoothing. In this regard, transmission and distribution networks are considered to be key providers of flexibility. However, with increased renewable generation, this can also lead to increased congestions, both at transmission and at distribution level.

In recent times, there have been many changes to system services. These adaptations have mainly been driven by new service providers, new entrants to the market and the drive towards greater cross-border coordination, rather than being driven by the evolving needs of a future power system with very high levels of variable renewable generation. In order to mitigate the technical scarcities that were identified and studied in WP2, and to continue to provide a secure and resilient power system for consumers, new and innovative system services may be required, to complement the existing suite of ancillary services. In addition, new service providers will need to have a route to market, and novel remuneration mechanisms and innovative market designs need to be explored.



1.2 WP3 OBJECTIVES

Developing and analysing the innovative product and market designs and regulatory options that can address the challenges outlined above is the focus of Work Package 3: "Analysis of market design and regulatory options for innovative system services" in the EU-SysFlex project. WP3's main objectives are:

- 1) A conceptual analysis to determine a comprehensive "basket of products" with detailed characteristics to fulfil the need for system services;
- 2) An extensive analysis of role models, possible market organization schemes and associated regulatory frameworks to identify barriers and solutions to overcome them;
- 3) An in-depth analysis through market modelling studies of key market/regulatory design parameters; and
- 4) A detailed business use case analysis for the demonstrated products to provide functional specifications to enable the innovative system services and facilitate the development of system use cases (in other WPs).

1.3 TASK 3.4 AND RELATIONSHIP WITH OTHER TASKS

Within WP3, the main objective of Task 3.4 was to complement the conceptual market designs of Task 3.2 through advanced power system and market modelling studies, considering both the long-term (investment) and short-term (operational) impacts of these designs on the pan-European power system. This interaction itself has to be seen in the wider context of WP3 and the EU-SysFlex project as a whole, as presented in Figure 1-1.



FIGURE 1-1: TASK 3.4 IN THE WIDER CONTEXT OF WP3 AND THE EU-SYSFLEX PROJECT



Task 3.4's main focus was on the operational timeframe – seconds, minutes, hours – analysing how different market and product designs of systems services play out in different power system configurations: distribution vs. transmission level, isolated vs. interconnected, lightly-loaded vs. congested grids, etc. A range of advanced models were deployed to study these effects, ranging from flexible UC/ED models (stochastic/deterministic, adaptive in terms of considered technologies, interconnections, geographical and temporal scope, etc.) over game theoretic approaches (equilibrium models, bi-level optimization, etc.), agent-based simulations to investment models.

Task 3.4's main interaction with Task 3.2 are the key market design/regulatory options proposed for analysis, and feedback of model results to support the argumentation on these different options. Task 3.2 as a whole focused on the organization of markets and regulation to facilitate the innovative system services, looking at role models and interactions in the provision of system services, and benchmarking market designs and regulatory frameworks to identify issues and barriers, as well as ways to overcome them.

Finally, Task 3.4 interacts with WP10 and, indirectly, with the demonstrators (WP6-9). The scientific evidence for market design options developed within this task will feed in the flexibility roadmap of WP10. Moreover, through the support of the work in Task 3.2, the task contributes to the development of market/regulatory options to procure, activate/operate, measure and settle the defined innovative products for system services in a cost-efficient way.

1.4 REPORT OUTLINE

The remainder of this report is outlined as follows. Chapter 2 provides an overview of the approach that was used in this task, notably highlighting its interaction with Task 3.2. Chapters 3-11 then present the research that was performed under Task 3.4 on market/regulatory design options:

- **Chapter 3**: Enhancing TSO-DSO integration to facilitate market access for distributed energy resources
- Chapter 4: Interdependence of energy and reserve markets in high-RES systems
- Chapter 5: On the temporal granularity of joint energy-reserve markets in a high-RES systems
- Chapter 6: Benefits of regional coordination of balancing capacity markets in future European power markets
- **Chapter 7**: Pre-selection of the optimal siting of phase-shifting transformers based on an optimization problem solved within a coordinated cross-border congestion management process
- **Chapter 8**: Defining the TSO's investment shares for PSTs used for coordinated redispatch
- Chapter 9: Increasing technology neutrality in service markets in power systems with high RES shares
- Chapter 10: Analysis of long-term investment signals provided by ancillary services markets
- Chapter 11: Impacts of flexibility and unit commitment characteristics on market power effects



2. METHODOLOGY AND APPROACH

2.1 OVERVIEW

Within Task 3.4, several regulatory, product and market design options were studied. A key emphasis was to benchmark these options, partly provided by Task 3.2, with ideal, fully integrated market/regulatory settings. Moreover, these options were evaluated in advanced models with detailed representations of the short-term operational constraints of power systems, capturing both power system reliability and the impact of such constraints on market designs and outcomes. The results of these research topics, in turn, provided scientific ground for the regulatory, and product and market design options of Task 3.2 (outlined in Section 2.2).

Surveying the work performed under Task 3.4, the following areas of research have been explored, all of which provide further insight into how the different options would perform in practice:

• Market and regulatory design

- a) Integrated markets (simultaneous clearing) versus sequential clearing
- b) Bias respectively neutrality in the ability for (new) technologies to participate
- c) Clearing frequency, temporal resolution and lead time for system services Related work: Chapter 4, Chapter 5, Chapter 6, Chapter 9

• Market behaviour

- a) Market participant decision making in multi-service markets
- b) Potential for strategic behaviour in system service provision Related work: Chapter 9, Chapter 11
- Geographical aspects
 - a) Locality of system services, i.e., coordination of TSOs and DSOs
 - b) Interconnections and cross-border exchange of flexibility products
 - c) Cross-border coordination and congestion management Related work: Chapter 3, Chapter 6, Chapter 7
- Investment effects
 - a) Long-term investment signals of short-term system services
 - b) Cost/benefit analysis of cross-border coordination and investment allocation Related work: Chapter 8, Chapter 10

The different chapters explore separate research question in high detail, using advanced modelling techniques on power system operation and market clearing, to contribute to the overall research aims of Task 3.4:

• **Chapter 3** studies TSO-DSO coordination for the optimization and control of the use of distributed energy resources. It uses detailed market and network models to study the performance of a Virtual Power Plant coordination approach in a centralized and decentralized context. This provides insights into the trade-off



between optimality and complexity of the market and control mechanisms, and into the role of DSOs in enabling the use of distributed resources.

- Chapter 4 studies the interdependence of energy and reserve markets by exploring sequential and joint market designs. It does so by employing a highly detailed unit commitment and economic dispatch model. This model includes detailed constraints related to power system technologies' technical abilities, e.g., on ramping, minimum operating points, and start-up and shut-down limitations. This provides valuable insights into the trade-off between a more complex market clearing algorithm, combining energy and reserve, and the operational and economic benefits this would unlock.
- **Chapter 5**, building on a similar methodology (including a detailed UC/ED model), explores the temporal granularity of four different dimensions of reserve products: the sizing frequency and resolution, and the procurement frequency and contract duration. This provides insights into the trade-off of developing more complex product and market designs and the potential welfare benefits that this can lead to.
- **Chapter 6**, also building on a similar methodology with a UC/ED model, explores different configurations of cross-border coordination in ancillary services markets in line with recent publications from the European Commission and ENTSO-E. Here, insight is created on the one hand into the trade-off between more complex cross-border market coordination and an increase in social welfare, and on the other hand into the reduction of security margins (through joint reserve sizing) and an increase in social welfare.
- **Chapter 7** and closely related **Chapter 8** explore cross-border management of congestion, through redispatch opportunities and investment opportunities, with the associated analysis into activation cost settlements and investment cost sharing. In both chapters, detailed network models are employed to ensure proposed solutions are operationally sound. Both chapters provide key insights into the mechanisms and benefits of coordinated network management and investment in network assets including phase-shifting transformers.
- **Chapter 9** investigates the impact of changing the parameters of ancillary services market design with regard to the participation of RES, focussing on the procurement cycle of mFRR and participation of wind and solar. As such, the employed agent-based market modelling allows to study the technology neutrality of market designs. Results provide insight into the extent to which market designs allows to fully translate the technical potential into market value.
- **Chapter 10** explores the impact ancillary service markets have on long term investments. It employs an investment model with a high level of operational detail to examine changes in investment decisions in the presence/absence of requirements for different ancillary services. It provides insights into the magnitude of the investment signals driven by ancillary services markets and the timeframes over which they matter most.
- **Chapter 11**, finally, studies how market power is affected by flexibility and operational constraints. It employs game-theoretic, strategic market modelling. It provides insights into the impact of flexible demand and energy storage on market efficiency, important flexible resources for the cost-effective integration of renewable generation. It provides further insight into the impact of complex unit commitment characteristics on the strategic bidding decisions of electricity producers, important in a European market setting that is moving towards complex bidding mechanisms.



2.2 INTERACTION WITH TASK 3.2

As discussed in Section 1.3, Task 3.2 is concerned with the conceptual market organisations for the provision of innovative system services. It describes and frames the responsibilities for power system operation (regulated) and the responsibilities of, and interactions with deregulated players (in particular flexibility service providers, e.g. aggregators), in light of system service delivery (frequency control products, congestion management products, voltage control products or inertia) by both centralized and decentralized energy resources (demand response, storage, generation). It analyses electricity and system service market/regulatory aspects with specific attention for market harmonisation, ENTSO-E grid codes, benchmarking proposed role models and organisations with existing market designs and regulation in EU countries.

Over the course of the analyses carried out under Task 3.2, several key attention points in the market/regulatory options were identified that motivated further analysis with advanced models under Task 3.4. The following questions, among others, were examined in Task 3.2 and link to the research in Task 3.4 as such:

- 1) What parameters are important when designing products and market characteristics?
 - a. **Chapter 5** provides key insights into the procurement organisation of generic flexibility services. Specifically, it explores several dimensions of product design, how they related to the costefficiency of system service provision, and how they enable/prevent the participation of different types of providers. In that regard, additional insights in how to design technology-neutral markets are generated in the research in **Chapter 9**.
 - b. **Chapter 9**, also, using an agent-based market simulation, focusses on the first two of the four market phases proposed in Task 3.2: pre-qualification, procurement, activation and settlement. The market participants and market operators in the model are equivalent to the flexibility service providers and optimization operators, respectively, in the role models from Task 3.2. The model is then applied to a specific case study, results of which provided support for further market design work in Task 3.2.
- 2) What are the advantages and drawbacks of a regulated organisation vs. a market-based organisation?
 - a. Chapter 10, through its exploration of the long-term investment signals of system service markets, offers key insights for the design of these markets. The warnings on market saturation and possible volatility of system service markets unwelcome factors for many investors push thinking on market design to find opportunities on revenue stacking (e.g., different system services) and other regulatory interventions that can create more stable investment conditions.
 - b. Chapter 11 explores market power effects. Its results provide important insights into the role of flexibility providers (demand response, storage) and the impact of technical constraints on the potential for strategic behaviour. As such, it provided valuable input for further market/regulatory design to pay attention to new types of market behaviour that could be challenging to monitor/regulate.



- 3) How can cross-border flexibility procurement best be organized?
 - a. **Chapter 6** explicitly studies the allocation of cross-border interconnection capacity for energy and reserves. A market formulation is developed that includes the clearing of both types of markets and cross-border capacity constraints. This provides insights into the importance of these grid constraints and the use of this capacity in highly renewable systems, helping to navigate the trade-off between complexity of market clearing models and, for example, price traceability.
 - b. **Chapter 7** and **Chapter 8** go into even more detail in network representation and analysis, studying coordinated cross-border congestion management processes. The work in these chapters helps gain insight into the cost/benefit-distribution effects of different flexibility procurement strategies in addition to a detailed analysis of the impact of grid constraints on that procurement.
- 4) What coordination between TSO and DSO is required?
 - a. **Chapter** 3 analyses coordination strategies for the use of distributed energy resources. It looks at the use of smart controls for the minimization of system cost and the enhancement of control coordination between TSOs and DSOs. It compares the performance of priority use of those distributed resources for DSOs with a co-optimized TSO-DSO use and how those modes of coordination impact power system performance aspects.
- 5) Is a joint procurement of some flexibility services possible, in particular for frequency control products and congestion management?
 - a. Chapter 4 explores the potential for joint organisation of markets, in its case energy and frequency control products. It provides insight into the way energy and flexibility bids are linked in practice, and should in a market design preferably be as well, in order to capture operational constraints. It further provides reflections on weighing the resulting market design complexity with the potential gains of such a joint procurement approach.
 - b. **Chapter 6** implicitly captures the joint procurement of frequency control products and congestion management by studying the effect of incorporating cross-border interconnection constraints in a joint energy and reserve market clearing set-up. This provides insight into the benefits of an endogenous optimization of the allocation of transmission capacity, in this case interconnection capacity between multiple market zones.

In addition to these specific inputs, the work under Task 3.4 provides several key messages across the different chapters that support the outcomes and recommendations of Task 3.2.

- \checkmark The work shows that improvements in market design can facilitate the sustainability transition.
- ✓ The work provides evidence of specific ways that regulation and market design can do so. The implementation of shorter-term, higher resolution ancillary service markets reduces the cost of ensuring system reliability, among other things by enabling the participation of nonconventional providers such as demand response and variables renewables. Cross-border coordination in both markets and system



management (e.g., cross-border congestion management) also reduces the cost of ensuring system reliability.

- The work calls attention to key challenges for regulation and market design. New market power effects associated with new service providers and technical constraints need to be understood in more detail. System service markets have to provide sufficiently stable investment signals such that the required flexibility will be developed.
- ✓ All chapters indicate that these effects become increasingly significant as renewable shares grow, and therefore point to the importance of action being taken sooner rather than later.



CONFIDENTIALITY

Dear reader,

The content chapters of the deliverable D3.4 are still confidential due to pending publication processes in peerreviewed journals.

You can contact the authors to get access to the specific chapters

- Hanspeter Höschle, WP3 leader, VITO/EnergyVille, hanspeter.hoschle@energyville.be
- Erik Delarue, Task 3.4 leader, KU Leuven/EnergyVille, erik.delarue@kuleuven.be
- EU-SysFlex Project, https://eu-sysflex.com/contact-us/

Sorry for the inconvenience and thank you for interest in the deliverable.



12. COPYRIGHT

Copyright © EU-SysFlex, all rights reserved. This document may not be copied, reproduced, or modified in whole or in part for any purpose. In addition, an acknowledgement of the authors of the document and all applicable portions of the copyright notice must be clearly referenced.

Changes in this document will be notified and approved by the PMB. This document will be approved by the PMB.

The EC / Innovation and Networks Executive Agency is not responsible for any use that may be made of the information it contains.

This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under EC-GA No 773505.